
 

 
Argyll and Bute Council 
Comhairle Earra Ghaidheal agus Bhoid 

 
Customer  Services 
Executive Director:  Douglas Hendry 
 

Kilmory, Lochgilphead, PA31 8RT 
Tel:  01546 602127  Fax:  01546 604444 

DX 599700 LOCHGILPHEAD 
e.mail –douglas.hendry@argyll-bute.gov.uk 

 
31 March 2011 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING 

 
A meeting of the PLANNING, PROTECTIVE SERVICES AND LICENSING COMMITTEE will be 
held in the QUEEN'S HALL, DUNOON on FRIDAY, 8 APRIL 2011 at 10:30 AM, which you are 
requested to attend. 
 

Douglas Hendry 
Executive Director - Customer Services 

 

 
BUSINESS 

 
 1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
 2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
 3. CWP PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTMENT: APPLICATION FOR 

ERECTION OF A CLASS 1 FOODSTORE WITH ASSOCIATED DEVELOPMENT 
TO INCLUDE CAR PARKING, ACCESS ROAD, ROAD BRIDGE, FILLING 
STATION AND ENGINEERING WORKS: 361 ARGYLL STREET, DUNOON (REF: 
10/00222/PPP) 

  Report by Head of Planning and Regulatory Services (Pages 1 - 46) 
 

 PROCEDURE NOTE (Pages 47 - 52) 

 
PLANNING, PROTECTIVE SERVICES AND LICENSING COMMITTEE 

 
 Councillor Gordon Chalmers Councillor Rory Colville
 Councillor Robin Currie Councillor Vivien Dance
 Councillor Mary-Jean Devon Councillor Daniel Kelly
 Councillor David Kinniburgh Councillor Neil Mackay
 Councillor Donald MacMillan Councillor Bruce Marshall
 Councillor Alister McAlister Councillor Roderick McCuish
 Councillor Alex McNaughton Councillor James McQueen
 Councillor Al Reay 
 
 Contact: Melissa Stewart                   Tel. No. 01546 604331

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 
 

Argyll and Bute Council 
Development and Infrastructure Services   

 
Delegated or Committee Planning Application Report and Report of handling as 
required by Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (Scotland) Regulations 2008 relative to applications for Planning 
Permission or Planning Permission in Principle 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Reference No: 10/00222/PPP 
 
Planning Hierarchy: Major 
 
Applicant:  CWP Property Development and Investment 
  
Proposal: Erection of Class 1 foodstore with associated development to include 

car parking, access road, road bridge, petrol filling station and 
engineering works. 

 
Site Address:  361 Argyll Street, Dunoon. 
_________________________________________________________________________
   

SUPPLEMENTARY REPORT 2 
 
1.0 SUMMARY 
 

The purpose of this supplementary report is to confirm the receipt of late letters of 
representation containing petition letters of objection, one further letter from the 
applicants agent and to clarify some previous information contained in the original 
planning report dated 4th March 2011 and Supplementary Report 1 dated 15th March 
2011.  
 

2.0 FURTHER REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Three further petitions of 484 letters of objection and 11 individual letters of objection 
(all in pro forma style) have been submitted since Supplementary Report 1. These are 
from: 

• Dinah McDonald, Bookpoint, 6 Deer Park, Glen Massan, Dunoon (letter dated 
24th March 2011 enclosing 202 petition letters of objection); 

• Alan Livingstone, Highland Stores, 152-6 Argyll Street, Dunoon (letter dated 28th 
March 2011 enclosing 277 petition letters of objection; 

• Alan Livingstone, Highland Stores, 152-6 Argyll Street, Dunoon (letter dated 30th 
March 2011 enclosing 5 petition letters of objection; 
 

• Claire Conlon, 110 Sandhaven, Sandbank (letter dated 16th March 2011); 

• John Nicol, 1 Cherryhill, Hunter Street, Kirn (letter dated 17th March 2011); 

• Margaret  Nicol, 1 Cherryhill, Hunter Street, Kirn (letter dated 17th March 2011); 

• Robert McChlery, 8 Wellington Street, Dunoon (letter dated 22nd March 2011); 

• C.A.P McChlery, 8 Wellington Street, Dunoon (letter dated 22nd March 2011); 

• G. Judd, Roslea, Wyndham Road, Innellan (letter dated 15th March 2011); 

• J. Judd, Roslea, Wyndham Road, Innellan (letter dated 15th March 2011); 

Agenda Item 3Page 1



 

 

• Kenneth McRoberts, 3 Royal Crescent, Dunoon (letter dated 22nd March 2011); 

• Fiona McRoberts, 3 Royal Crescent, Dunoon (letter dated 22nd March 2011); 
 
These pro-forma letters of objection state that the signatories “object to the proposal to 
build a large out-of-town supermarket selling a similar wide range of non-food goods 
currently sold in our local high street shops.  If this proposal were allowed to go ahead 
it could result in many of our town centre high street shops and other small shops 
around the town closing and could decimate our town centre within a few years. 
Considerable loss of trade from local high streets to new out-of-town supermarkets has 
already been demonstrated in other small towns such as Dumfries, Dingwall and 
Alloa.” 

 

• Mr. R Wall, Stonefield, Strone (letter dated 10th March 2011) objects on the basis that: 
 

Twenty years ago, the town was much more vibrant and since then we have lost 
butchers, fishmongers and delicatessens, wholefood shops etc; 
The existing shops are already threatened by the existing supermarkets; 
The proposed location threatens a precedent to extend the town and kill the centre; 
The proposal will destroy native woodland and increase the threat to the small stream; 
The paved area of car park and extensive roof area will add to the storm water burden 
on the sewers and result in more pressure on the sewage system; 
The proposal may offer jobs (low paid unproductive) but it will threaten and remove 
more from existing employment; 
Rural shoppers may not be enticed into the town and tourists may stay away.  
 

• Ben Mitchell (email dated 23rd March 2011) objects on the basis that : 
 
The proposed development would have a deleterious effect on the local community – 
currently most of the local commerce and services for Dunoon and surrounding area 
are located within walking distance of a well defined town centre, this plan would 
fragment that nexus. Cannot see how it would provide any mitigating benefit to the 
local populace – we already have more than enough developments of this kind. 
 
A further letter has been received from James Barr on behalf of the applicant (dated 
30th March 2011). The letter contains statements from CBRE (dated 21st March 2011) 
clarifying methodology employed using the NSLSP survey information.  

 
3.0 CLARIFICATION  INFORMATION 

 
For clarification it should be noted that the original petition received from Walkers 
Garden Centre (letter dated 28th October 2010) contained 860 letters of petition, not 
850 as stated in the letter. It should also be clarified that this standard petition letter 
included the following: 
“I support CWP’s plans to bring a new supermarket to Dunoon on the site of Walker 
Home and Garden Centre and land to the rear. This will bring added choice, more 
competition and 280 new local jobs and will allow Walkers to relocate and expand their 
business in Dunoon”. 
 
As an addendum to Supplementary Report 1, the following objections were not 
included in the list of objectors in Appendix B; 

• KRM Adams, 54 Shore Road, Innellan (letter dated 4th September 2010); 

• Miss N J Potts, Kilmun (email dated 22nd October 2010); 

• Mrs. P Evans, Bhenn Tower, Ardenslate Road, Kirn (email dated 26th October 
2010); 

Page 2



 

 

 
An email was also received from Brian Chennell (dated 13th September 2010) 
confirming that the Dunoon and Cowal Business Association conducted another 
survey amongst its members regarding the proposed supermarket development and 
the results of this secret ballot were: 

For development – 25 
Against development – 35 
No decision – 16. 

 
 
 

4.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
Given the late batches of representations, it may be beneficial to update Members of 
representations received to date.  
 
Objections 
 
387 petition letters (under cover letter 10th March 2011) 
202 petition letters (under cover letter 24th March 2011) 
277 petition letters (under cover letter 28th March 2011); 
5 petition letters (under cover letter 30th March 2011); 
14 individual petition letters; 
29 non-standard letters. 
 
914 Total number of letters of objection 
 
Support 
 
860 petition letters (under cover letter 28th October 2010); 
205 petition letters received individually; 
3 non-standard letters (not included in Appendix B of Supplementary Report 1); 
17 non-standard letters. 
 
1085 Total number of letters of support. 
 

 
5.0 RECOMMENDATION 

 
It is recommended that planning permission be refused as per the original report. 
 

  
 Author: Brian Close 01369 708604 
 
 Contact Point: David Eaglesham 01369 708608  
 
 Angus J Gilmour 
 Head of Planning & Regulatory Services 
 
  
 30  March 2011 

 
 
 

Page 3



Page 4

This page is intentionally left blank



 
Argyll and Bute Council 

Development and Infrastructure Services   
 
Delegated or Committee Planning Application Report and Report of handling as 
required by Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (Scotland) Regulations 2008 relative to applications for Planning 
Permission or Planning Permission in Principle 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Reference No: 10/00222/PPP 
 
Planning Hierarchy: Major 
 
Applicant:  CWP Property Development and Investment 
  
Proposal: Erection of Class 1 foodstore with associated development to include 

car parking, access road, road bridge, petrol filling station and 
engineering works. 

 
Site Address:  361 Argyll Street, Dunoon. 
_________________________________________________________________________
   

SUPPLEMENTARY REPORT 1 
 
1.0 SUMMARY 
 

The purpose of this supplementary report is to confirm the receipt of late letters of 
representation containing supporting information from James Barr (agents for CWP) in 
respect of this application and from local residents.  
 
The first of these (dated 3rd March 2011) relates to matters discussed at a meeting on 
15th February 2011 and recent correspondence received from agents representing the 
National Grid site (Montagu Evans) and the Co-op (G L Hearn).  The second, (also 
dated 3rd March 2011) contains further information on potential development of the 
National Grid site with an indicative layout as supporting information.  
 
5 individual letters of objection and a petition of 387 letters of objection, all in pro 
forma style, have been submitted. These are from  

• Dina McEwen, Sydney Cottage, 8 McArthur Street, Dunoon (letter dated 10th 
March 2011).  

• Noel Fitzpatrick, Upper Hansville, Innellan, Dunoon (letter dated 10th March 
2011).  

• Kenneth Barr, 11 Dixon Avenue, Kirn, Dunoon (letter dated 13th March 2011).  

• Charles M Gardiner, 11 Fairhaven, Kirn, Dunoon (letter dated 12th March 2011).  

• Robert Waters, Glenrest, 19 Broomfield Drive, Dunoon (letter dated 12th March 
2011).  

• Alan Livingstone, Highland Stores, 152-6 Argyll Street, Dunoon (letter dated 15th 
March 2011 enclosing 387 letters).  

 
These pro-forma letters of objection state that the signatories “object to the proposal to 
build a large out-of-town supermarket selling a similar wide range of non-food goods 
currently sold in our local high street shops.  If this proposal were allowed to go ahead 
it could result in many of our town centre high street shops and other small shops 

Page 5



around the town closing and could decimate our town centre within a few years. 
Considerable loss of trade from local high streets to new out-of-town supermarkets has 
already been demonstrated in other small towns such as Dumfries, Dingwall and 
Alloa.” 
 

• A letter of support for the application on unspecified grounds has been received 
from G.F. Johnstone, Dunloskin Cottage, Dunloskin Farm, Sandbank High Road, 
Dunoon (letter dated 10th March 2011).  

 
I also attach at Appendix B a listing all representations received which was omitted 
from inclusion with my original report. 

 
2.0 FURTHER SUPPORTING INFORMATION 

 
James Barr note the recent submission by National Grid in terms of developing the 
gasworks site for retail purposes but consider that this does not alter CWP’s position 
on the site’s potential. The submission of a Proposal of Application Notice (PAN) is 
questioned for a site that is under 2 ha and development under 5,000 sqm.  James 
Barr confirms their position that the site is not suitable or appropriate for the proposed 
development as per the Planning and Retail Statement and that the actual developable 
part of their landholdings is around 1 hectare. James Barr dispute the comment made 
by Montagu Evans that the gasworks site would be capable of accommodating a 
standard retail format footsore extending to 3,000 sqm that would also be capable of 
providing car parking and servicing for a store of that size, due to site configuration 
and relationship to the Milton Burn. For these reasons, CWP has dismissed the 
National Grid site as a suitable option. For a site to be attractive to modern foodstore 
operators, the requirement for retailers for a store in Dunoon is a minimum of 40,000 
sqft with a petrol filling station, together with appropriate servicing and car parking, 
which is considered necessary to the level of leakage and clawback. 
 
James Barr also refutes information submitted by Montagu Evans that includes a list of 
schemes that CWP have been involved with. Some of the information relates to 
foodstore and non-food retail proposals and other sites had particular requirements.     
James Barr have cited case law where the retailer’s own site requirements need to be 
taken into consideration in the sequential approach and that an edge of centre site in 
Dalry was not deemed sequentially preferable as it could not meet the operational 
needs of the retailers.     
 
James Barr consider that there is no evidence to support the claim that the National 
Grid site is deliverable and the Council must satisfy itself that it can be delivered in 
technical terms such as layout, servicing, access, car parking, building footprint, 
infrastructure, contamination and flooding.  
 
James Barr considers that further objections made on behalf of the Co-op add no new 
information or matters for consideration.  
  
  In relation to a department memo dated 17th February 2011, James Barr suggests that 
this memo contains inaccurate and misleading information in respect of the average 
turnover approach taken in the retail assessment. James Barr considers that their 
application is being judged on inaccurate information and unjustified statement based 
on inaccurate information. 
 
Department Comment – In relation to the above, the applicants have pointed out that 
the department had erroneously referred to their original retail impact assessment 
using average turnovers for all supermarket operators.  It is confirmed that the 

Page 6



applicants had suggested a convenience turnover figure of £9000 per sqm in their 
assessment dated January 2010, and that  it was in paragraph 4.42 of their 
assessment dated September  2010 that they refer to an average convenience 
turnover of £11,970 per sqm and comparison turnover of £8241 sqm.  The applicants 
have submitted three complete retail assessments, comprising 32 appendices, and 63 
tables, as well as numerous other supplementary documents to correct errors which 
were previously pointed out to them in their original assessments.  In the departmental 
memo, the most relevant information was extracted to help inform the decision making 
process and primarily referred to the applicant’s retail assessments of September 
2010 and the revised assessment of January 2011, in as much as it relates to their 
proposals for a smaller store, and different convenience /comparison floorspace 
ratios. 
 
James Barr suggests that the department has expressed comments that appear to 
pre-determine a development before an application is made for the gasworks site. The 
suggestion that the figures make a case for a smaller store on the gasworks site is 
prejudicial in terms of specific site location.  
 
Department Comment – In respect of the above, James Barr letter, it is stated that 
paragraph 15 of the departmental memo is biased against their client’s proposal and 
pre-supports a development proposal which has not yet come forward for 
determination.  The last sentence of paragraph 15 states “I consider that the 
applicants have not met the requirements of the sequential test, in discounting the 
former gas works site, which is located in a sequentially preferable edge of town 
centre location.”  It is a matter of fact that the former gas works site is within an edge 
of town centre location as defined in Dunoon Town Centre Map in the Adopted Argyll 
and Bute Local Plan and is therefore in a sequentially preferable location. 
 
James Barr comments that information contained in the revised Planning and Retail 
Statement is wrong where the scenario for a smaller store is estimated to clawback 
expenditure at 40% and not 30% as stated. Additionally, the level of clawback 
suggested by the department of 50% is at odds with what was previously agreed at 
60%. James Barr suggests that the assumption that a smaller store is better placed to 
clawback leakage than a larger store is not a reasonable position to adopt. This is 
based on statements regarding ‘ambitious’ and ‘robust’ retained convenience 
expenditure where the difference between assumptions accounts for only 4.25% of a 
difference. 
 
Department Comment – In respect of the implication that the departmental memo 
referred to a store of 1045 sqm. convenience floorspace as being acceptable,  this is 
not the case.  Comments in the memo referred to the James Barr estimate that the 
gas works site could accommodate a store of 2500 sqm with 1600 sqm net, and then 
stated that such as development would be capable of more than accommodating the 
available expenditure.  It should be noted that this amount of floorspace being 
acceptable was never stated, as any application would have to be accompanied by its 
own retail assessment, and would be dependent on a number of factors with regard to 
potential impact.  The important aspect of this being that their subsequent points in 
relation to turnover and clawback of  a smaller store and the impact on the town 
centre and tables 16a, 16b,17a, 17b, and 18b as attached to their letter dated 3rd 
March are based on their  assumption on level of floorspace, which would be 
considered acceptable. 
 
James Barr considers that the difference of predicted impact is negligible when 
compared with estimates by the department considered to be acceptable and this 

Page 7



slight difference in predicted impact could be mitigated through a contribution to the 
CHORD project.     
 
 

3.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
In considering the above, Members should be aware that the production of Retail 
Impact Assessments (RIA) (or ‘Planning and Retail Statement’ in this case) is not a 
precise science, due to the variables and assumptions involved in the production of 
conclusions. It is for that reason that Scottish Planning Policy advocates the ‘broad 
based approach’ referred to above. Ultimately, in reaching a conclusion on the merits of 
the application, it is for Members to conclude what weight to place upon the 
conclusions of the applicant’s RIA and the officers’ rejection of its conclusions - a view 
also expressed by third parties - on the basis of a critique of that RIA. 
 

The department’s view remains that the applicant’s RIA is ambitious in its assumptions 
and that the potential impact on Dunoon Town Centre is unacceptable, while any form 
of mitigation measures would not reduce this impact to an acceptable degree. The 
department has researched the submitted figures in the RIA thoroughly in the context 
of the Dunoon and Cowal catchment, and that reliance may be placed upon its 
conclusions in reaching a decision on the unacceptable nature of the application, 
notwithstanding the critique presented in letters from James Barr on behalf of the 
applicant. 
 

  
4.0 RECOMMENDATION 

 
It is recommended that planning permission be refused as per the original report. 
 

  
 Author: Brian Close 01369 708604 
 Contact Point: David Eaglesham 01369 708608  
 
 Angus J Gilmour 
 Head of Planning & Regulatory Services 
 
 
 15th March 2011 
 
 
 
 
   
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 8



APPENDIX B – RELATIVE TO APPLICATION NUMBER: 10/00222/PPP  
 
REPRESENTATIONS:  
 
Support  
 
 

1. Thomas MacIntyre, 29 Valrose Terrace, Dunoon (letter dated 13th August 2010); 
2. Susan MacIntyre, 29 Valrose Terarace, Dunoon (letter dated 13th August 2010); 
3. Mr D Allison, 207 Alexandra Parade, Dunoon (letter dated 12 August 2010); 
4. Catherine Docherty, 12 Hafton Court, Dunoon (letter dated 11th August 201); 
5. Mrs Barbara Gray, 55 The Glebe, Dunoon (letter dated 11th August 2010); 
6. Mr Kevin Gray, 55 The Glebe, Dunoon (letter dated 11th August 2010); 
7. Suzanne Nugent, 10 Douglas Cottages, Park Road, Dunoon (letter dated 7th August); 
8. Ryan Nugent, 10 Douglas Cottages, Park Road, Dunoon (letter dated 7th August 2010); 
9. Scott Marshall, The Hermitage, 20 Park Road, Dunoon (letter dated 7th August 2010); 
10. Frances MacDonald, The Hermitage, 20 Park Road, Dunoon (letter dated 7th August 

2010); 
11. Jill English, Ashton View, 5b George Street, Hunters Quay (letter dated 10th August 

2010); 
12. David Crowe, Ashton View, 5b George Street, Hunters Quay (letter dated 10th August 

2010); 
13. Laura Sands, 30 Cromwell Street, Dunoon (letter dated 10th August 2010); 
14. Louise Murphy, 105/109 Bell Street, Glasgow (letter dated 10th August 2010); 
15. Ross Ferrier, 105/109 Bell Street, Glasgow (letter dated 10th August 2010); 
16. Yvonne Lamb, 97 Snadhaven, Dunoon (letter dated 10th August 2010); 
17. Shelia M Cameron, 2 Tom Nah Ragh, Dalinlonghart (letter dated 11th August 2010); 
18. Janet Gillespie, 14 Victoria Road, Dunoon (letter dated 11th August 2010); 
19. Sarah Anderson, 39c Glenmorag Crescent, Dunoon (letter dated 11th August 2010); 
20. Steven Galloway, 4 Kilbride Road, Dunoon (letter dated 11th August 2010); 
21. Abbey McMaster, 39 Glenmorag Crescent, Dunoon (letter dated 11th August 2010); 
22. Colin Miller, 99 Alexander Street, Dunoon (letter dated 7th August 2010); 
23. Dawn Miller, 99 Alexander Street, Dunoon (letter dated 7th August 2010); 
24. Christopher Gray, 55 The Glebe, Dunoon (letter dated 7th August 2010); 
25. William Quinn, 135 Alexander Street, Dunoon (letter dated 5th August 2010); 
26. Lynn MacFarlane, 103 Auchamore Road, Dunoon (letter dated 5th August 2010); 
27. Michelle Allison, 55 The Glebe, Dunoon (letter dated 6th August 2010); 
28. Sarah MacFarlane, 103 Auchamore Road, Dunoon (letter dated 5th August 2010); 
29. Martin Allison, 207 Alexandra Parade, Kirn, Dunoon (letter dated 7th August 2010); 
30. Margaret MacFarlane, 103 Auchamore Road, Dunoon (letter dated 5th August 2010); 
31. Karen Quinn, 135 Alexander Street, Dunoon (letter dated 5th August 2010); 
32. Carol Mullen, 142 Victoria Road, Dunoon (letter dated 11th August 2010); 
33. Amanda Arden, 147 Alexander Street, Dunoon (letter dated 11th August 2010); 
34. Turner, 133 Alexander Street, Dunoon (letter dated 11th August 2010); 
35. Moira Newall, 31 Fountain Quay, Kirn, Dunoon (letter dated 12th August 2010); 
36. Taylor Currie, 96 Bullwood Road (letter dated 12th August 2010); 
37. Honor McCutcheon, 141 Bullwood Road (letter dated 12th August 2010); 
38. Scott Currie, 141 Bullwood Road (letter dated 12th August 2010); 
39. Kerri Pullar, Earlton, High Road, Sandbank, Dunoon (letter dated 12th August 2010); 
40. Abbie Ewart, 82 Sandhaven, Sandbank (letter dated 12th August 2010); 
41. Alexis Ewart, 82 Sandhaven, Sandbank, Dunoon (letter dated 12th August 2010); 
42. Stefan Toremar, 1 Eachaig, Kilmun (letter dated 12th August 2010); 
43. Gail Galloway, 9 Dhailling Road, Dunoon (letter dated 12th August 2010); 
44. Moira Roberston, 57 Alexander Street, Dunoon (12th August 2010); 
45. Glenis Coles, 199 Victoria Road, Dunoon (letter dated 12th August 2010); 

Page 9



46. Bobbie Davie, 68 Queen Street, Dunoon (letter dated 12th August 2010); 
47. Chris-Elaine Davie, 68 Queen Street, Dunoon (letter dated 12th August 2010); 
48. Kirsty Lauder, 137 Argyll Road. Dunoon (letter dated 13th August 2010); 
49. Ms R. Templeton, 1 Machair Cottage, Toward (letter dated 12th August 2010); 
50. Catherine MacIntyre, 38 Cowal Place, Dunoon (letter dated 8th August 2010); 
51. Devon Dupre-Smith, Hamilton House, 7 Wellington Street, Dunoon (letter dated 8th 

August 2010); 
52. Irene McKendrick, 6 Kilmun Court, Kilmun, Dunoon (letter dated 12th August 2010); 
53. Laura MacKendrick, 6 Kilmun Court, Kilmun, Dunoon (letter dated 12th August 2010); 
54. E. Smith, Hally Cottage, 6 Clyde Street, Dunoon (letter dated 13th August 2010); 
55. D.J. Black, 13 Tigh-Na-Cladach, Bullwood Road, Dunoon (letter dated 16th August 2010) 
56. Eileen Brand, 2 Thornwood, Innellan (letter dated 16th August 2010); 
57. H. Mathieson, 84c Shore Road, Innellan (letter dated 16th August 2010); 
58. Douglas A. Lauffer, North Campbell Road, Innellan (letter dated 16th August 2010); 
59. Nigel Potts, 20 Newton Park, Innellan (letter dated 16th August 2010); 
60. Vanessa Davie, 68 Queen street, Dunoon (letter dated 17th August 2010); 
61. James Elsby, 2 Eton Avenue, Dunoon (letter dated 13th August 2010); 
62. Lauren Davie, 68 Queen Street, Dunoon (letter dated 18th August 2010); 
63. Sarah Love, 21 Wellington Street, Dunoon (letter dated 17th August 2010); 
64. Gavin Galloway, 12 Dixon Avenue, Kirn, Dunoon (letter dated 10th August 2010); 
65. Myra Campbell, 53 Queen Street, Dunoon (letter dated 16th August 2010); 
66. Christopher Dickson, 7 Lorimer Terrace, Sandbank (letter dated 12th August 2010); 
67. Winniefred Sommerville, Flat 1, 129 Edward Street, Dunoon (letter dated 12th August 

2010); 
68. Kerry MacIntyre, Cairnfield, 125 Edward Street, Dunoon (letter dated 12th August 2010); 
69. Edward MacIntyre, 29 Valrose Terrace, Dunoon (letter dated 12th August 2010); 
70. Laura Jane Carmichael, 136b Alexander Street, Dunoon (letter dated 12th August 2010); 
71. Kelly Marie Walker, 18 Valrose Terrace, Dunoon (letter dated 12th August 2010); 
72. Christine Dickson, 7 Lorimer Terrace, Sandbank (letter dated 12th August 2010); 
73. Claire Dickson, 38 Cowal Place, Dunoon (letter dated 12 August 2010); 
74. M. Hall, 46 Alexander Street, Dunoon (letter dated 8th September 2010); 
75. M. McEwan, 9 The Glebe, Dunoon (letter dated 8th September 2010); 
76. Mrs Lynn Stewart, Lilybank, 6A Alfred Street, Dunoon (letter dated 23 August 2010); 
77. Karen Keith, Madiera Lodge, 32 Edward Street, Dunoon (letter dated 25th August 2010); 
78. Kirsten Oliphant, 7 Park Avenue, Dunoon (letter dated 25th August 2010); 
79. Patricia MacAlister, 132 John Street, Dunoon (letter dated 25th August 2010); 
80. Mary Blincow, 31D Park Road, Dunoon (letter dated 25th August 2010); 
81. Billy Stewart, Hope Cottage, Blairmore, Dunoon (letter dated 1st September 2010); 
82. Ronald Stokes, 15 Hunter’s Grove, Hunters Quay (letter dated 1st September 2010); 
83. Melanie Douglas, 46 Alfred Street, Dunoon (letter dated 23rd August 2010); 
84. Penny Galloway, Bentre, King Street, Dunoon (letter dated 20th August 2010); 
85. Donald Mackay, 130 Fairhaven, Kirn (letter dated 20th August 2010); 
86. Peter Campbell, 28 Valrose Terrace, Dunoon (letter dated 8th September 2010); 
87. David McMillan, 20 Johnston Terrace, Dunoon (letter dated 9th September 2010); 
88. Joan Berndt, 40 Cowal Place, Dunoon (letter dated 9th September 2010); 
89. Mrs M. Wilson, Ashton View, 177 Edward Street, Dunoon (letter dated 9th September 

2010); 
90. Agnes Kerr, 6 Ardyne Terrace, Innellan (letter dated 8th September 2010); 
91. Owner/Occupier, 2 Wallace Court, Sandbak (letter dated 8th September 2010); 
92. Margaret Munro, 12 Lochan Avenue, Kirn, Dunoon (letter dated 8th September 2010); 
93. Craig, 43 Victoria Road, Dunoon (letter dated 8th September 2010); 
94. V. Graham, 201 Victoria Road, Dunoon (letter dated 8th September 2010); 
95. J. Stewart, 6 Allan Terrace, Sandbank, Dunoon (letter dated 8th September 2010); 
96. Owner/Occupier, 213 Edward Street, Dunoon (letter dated 8th September 2010); 
97. Macleod, Flat 2/2, Woodford, Dunoon (letter dated 8th September 2010); 

Page 10



98. J. Degning, 6 Ardyne Terrace, Innellan (letter dated 8th September 2010); 
99. M. Fergsuson, 58 Shore Road, Innellan (letter dated 8th September 2010); 
100. Kathie Cameron, 1 Dalriada Grove, Shore Road, Innellan (letter dated 8th September 

2010); 
101. Barbara McLauchlan, 6 Dalriada Grove, Innellan (letter dated 8th September 2010); 
102. Patrick James Burns, 87 Marine Parade, Kirn (letter dated 8th September 2010); 
103. Karina Lilika, 73 Alexandra Parade, Dunoon (letter dated 25th August 2010); 
104. Liva Krastina, 73 Alexandra Parade, Dunoon (letter dated 25th August 210); 
105. Nancy Laursen, 5 Glenmorag Avenue, Dunoon (letter dated 25th August 2010); 
106. Crawford, 166 John Street, Dunoon (letter dated 25th August 2010); 
107. Alexis Rithchie, Ardvaine, High Road, Sandbank (letter dated 8th August 2010); 
108. Shelley Anthony Davies, Cambrai, Green Bank Lane, Kirn (letter dated 2nd August 2010); 
109. Rita McKenzie, 56 Ardenslate Road, Kirn (letter dated 3rd August 2010); 
110. Sarah Campbell, 41 Eton Avenue, Dunoon (letter dated 3rd August 2010); 
111. Owner/Occupier, Flat ½, 133 John Street, Dunoon (letter dated 5th August 2010); 
112. Dean Morrison, 1/3, 106 John Street, Dunoon (letter dated 5th September 2010); 
113. Susan Pochetta, 13 Hill Street, Dunoon (letter dated 4th September 2010); 
114. Ashleigh McKenzie, 30 Dixon Avenue, Kirn (letter dated 6th September 2010); 
115. William Honeyball, 16A Clyde Street, Dunoon (letter dated 4th September 2010); 
116. Mrs Honeyball, 16A Clyde Street, Dunoon (letter dated 4th September 2010); 
117. Johan Jacobs, 3 Kilbride Road, Dunoon (letter dated 3rd September 2010); 
118. Jennifer Barron, 29 Marine Parade, Dunoon (letter dated 3rd September 2010); 
119. Owner/Occupier, 12 Clyde Street, Kirn, Dunoon (letter dated 2nd September 2010); 
120. Jill Emmerson, Eckvale, Sandbank (letter dated 1st September 2010); 
121. Mrs A. Henderson, 12 Arthur Terrace, Dunoon (letter dated 23rd August 2010); 
122. David Stewart, 151 George Street, Dunoon (letter dated 23rd August 2010); 
123. Emma Stewart, 151 George Street, Dunoon (letter dated 23rd August 2010); 
124. Angela Kay, 12 Jonston Terrace, Dunoon (letter dated 7th September 2010); 
125. Nancy Paterson, 45 Alexandra Parade, Dunoon (letter dated 2nd September 2010); 
126. Jannette Reid, 1 Dixon Avenue, Kirn, Dunoon (letter dated 2nd September 2010); 
127. Megan Carmichael, 2 Victoria Road, Hunters Quay, Dunoon (letter dated 2nd September 

2010); 
128. Chloe Dalton. 9 Robertson Terrace, Sandbank (letter dated 2nd September 2010); 
129. MR Ian Stewart, Lilybank, 6A Alfred Street, Dunoon (letter dated 23rd August 2010); 
130. Joanne McAllister, 24 Ardenslate Crescent, Kirn, Dunoon (letter dated 4th September 

2010); 
131. Nancy Malcolm. 25 Eton Avenue, Dunoon  (letter dated 4th September 2010); 
132. Ciorstaidh Dornan, Top Flat, Dalriada, Ferry Brae, Dunoon (letter dated 4th September 

2010); 
133. J. Birtles, 16 Dixon Avenue, Kirn (letter dated 4th September 2010); 
134. Linda McGregor, 0/2, 3 Woodford Grove, Dunoon (letter dated 3rd September 2010); 
135. Mathew Maccoll, Flat ½, 8 Argyll Terrace, Dunoon (letter dated 2nd September 2010); 
136. Stephen Cole, 6 Ardmhor Road, Dunoon (letter dated 2nd September 2010); 
137. Ileen Stokes, 15 Hunter’s Grove, Hunters Quay (letter dated 1st September 2010); 
138. Michelle McDonald, 90 Dixon Avenue, Dunoon (letter dated 1st September 2010); 
139. Owner/Occupier, 4 Kirn Gardens, Kirn (letter dated 1st September 2010); 
140. Owner/Occupier, 4 Kirn Gardens, Kirn (letter dated 1st September 2010); 
141. Rachell Glendigging, c/o 99 Alexander Street, Dunoon (letter dated 29th August 2010); 
142. Robert Glendigging, c/o 99 Alexander Street, Dunoon (letter dated 28th August 2010); 
143. Sinitia Mezeiko, 39 Fairhaven, Kirn (letter dated 25th August 2010); 
144. Linda Holdurn, 3 Victoria Crescent, Kirn Brae, Dunoon (letter dated 23rd August 2010); 
145. Kirsteen McCarron, 11 Bencorrum Brae, Dunoon (letter dated 6th August 2010); 
146. Michelle Gray, 207 Alexandra Parade, Kirn (letter dated 6th August 2010); 
147. Martin Allison, 207 Alexandra Parade, Kirn (letter dated 6th August 2010); 
148. Ian Wilson, 60 Edward Street, Dunoon (letter dated 7th August 2010); 

Page 11



149. Richard Longster, 164 John Street, Dunoon (letter dated 10th August 2010); 
150. Roberston, 21 Miller Court, Dunoon (letter dated 10th August 2010); 
151. Angela Roberston, Flat 1/3, 59 John Street, Dunoon (letter dated 10th August 2010); 
152. James Hamilton, 5 Dixon Place, Kirn (letter dated 18th August 2010); 
153. N. Roberston, 9 Johnston Terrace, Dunoon (letter dated 9th August 2010); 
154. Alan g. Alan, 58 Argyll Road, Kirn (letter dated 18th August 2010); 
155. Alan Stewart, Brackley Cottage, Toward (letter dated 1st September 2010); 
156. AM. Houston, 14 McArthur Street, Dunoon (letter dated 18th August 2010); 
157. Alison Marshall, 82 Mary Street, Dunoon (letter dated 18th August 2010); 
158. Lorraine Galbraith, 32 Dixon Avenue, Kirn (letter dated 18th August 2010); 
159. Bruce Thomson, 9A Jane Street, Dunoon (letter dated 18th August 2010); 
160. Galloway, Hafton Court, 58 Ardenslate Road, Kirn (letter dated 10th August 2010); 
161. Hilda Galloway, Hafton Court, 58 Ardenslate Road, Kirn (letter dated 10th August 2010); 
162. John Allison, 207 Alexandra Parade, Kirn (letter dated 10th August 2010); 
163. Valerie Kent, 7 Gerhallow, Bullwood, Dunoon (letter dated 6th August 2010); 
164. Suzanne Roberston, 164 John Street, Dunoon (letter dated 6th August 2010); 
165. Santa Mezeiko. 39 Fairhaven, Kirn (letter dated 25th August 2010); 
166. Sintia Fomina, 3 Regent Terrace, Dunoon (letter dated 25th August 2010); 
167. David McDermot, 2/3, 53 John Street, Dunoon (letter dated 18th August 2010); 
168. David Whyte, 3 Ash Gardens, Kirn (letter dated 18th August 2010); 
169. Brian Gray, 8 Dixon Avenue, Kirn (letter dated 18th August 2010); 
170. Douglas Ross Gray, 115B Edward Street, Dunoon (letter dated 18th August 2010); 
171. John Cargill, 55 Ardenslate Crescent, Kirn (letter dated 8th September 2010); 
172. R. Sherville, 27 Fairhaven, Kirn (letter dated 8th September 2010); 
173. Graeme Macpherson, 7 Leven Lane, Kirn (letter dated 8th September 2010); 
174. Darren Lauffer, 6 Heatherbloom Place, Strone (letter dated 8th September 2010); 
175. David Hughes-Barr, 49 Sandhaven, Sandbank (letter dated 7th September 2010); 
176. Linda Hughes-Barr, 49 Sandhaven, Sandbank (letter dated 7th September 2010); 
177. Elaine Appleby, 15 Fairhaven, Kirn (letter dated 18th August 2010); 
178. Irene Allison, 207 Alexandra Parade, Kirn (letter dated 6th August 2010); 
179. Patricia McCann, 4 Bogleha Green, Argyll Street, Dunoon (letter dated 18th August 

2010); 
180. Hazel Galloway, 45 Kilbride Road, Dunoon (letter dated 25th August 2010); 
181. Christine Boyle, 193 Alexandra Parade, Dunoon (letter dated 18th August 2010); 
182. Sandy MacAlister, 132 John Street, Dunoon (letter dated 25th August 2010); 
183. Richard Salisbury, 47 Forest View, Strachur, Cairndow (letter dated 25th August 2010); 
184. K.R.M. Adams, Dunadd, 54 Shore Road, Innellan (letter dated 23rd August 2010); 
185. Chris Talbot, 12 McKinlay’s Quay, Sandbank, Dunoon (letter dated 18th August 2010); 
186. Lorna Rae, 58 Dixon Avenue, Kirn (letter dated 13th August 2010); 
187. Calum Rae, 58 Dixon Avenue, Kirn (letter dated 14th August 2010); 
188. John and Marion Paterson, 67 Sandhaven, Sandbank (letter dated 14th August 2010); 
189. Nicola  Rae, 58 Dixon Avenue, Kirn (letter dated 13th August 2010); 
190. Margaret Holgate, St. Abbs, 24 Shore Road, Innellan (letter received 16th August 2010); 
191. Deborah Rycroft, 4 Broxwood Place, Sandbank (letter dated 15th August 2010); 
192. Kivanc Altin, 13 Albert Place, Sandbank (letter dated 15th August 2010); 
193. Rhona Atlin, 13 Albert Place, Sandbank (letter dated 15th August 2010); 
194. John McCombe, 33 Johnston Terrace, Dunoon (letter dated 12th August 2010); 
195. Mr D Robson, 29 King Street, Dunoon (letter dated 12th August 2010); 
196. Ishbel Fairman, 29 Sandhaven, Sandbank (letter dated 11th August 2010); 
197. Mrs. May Gill, 18 Dalriada Grove, Innellan (letter dated 12th August 2010); 
198. Doreen MacDonald, 3 Dhailling Park, Kirn (letter dated 1oth August 2010); 
199. Fiona Morrison, 6 Strawberry Field Road, Crosslee (letter dated 10th August 2010); 
200. Melanie Gladwell and Gordon Drummond, 197 Edward Street, Dunoon (letter dated 10th 

August 2010); 
201. Edwina Carter, 38 Park Road, Kirn (letter dated 10th August 2010); 

Page 12



202. Ormonde Ross Carter, 38 Park Road, Kirn (letter dated 10th August 2010); 
203. W S Sutherland, Drum Cottage, Kilfinnan (letter dated 10th August 2010); 
204. Kevin Lynch, 19 Drumadoon Drive, Helensburgh (letter dated 11th August 2010); 
205. Delia Blackmore, Fingal House, 35 Argyll Road, Dunoon (letter dated 10th August 2010); 
206. J. Hutchison, 2 Victoria Crescent, Kirn (letter dated 30th July 2010); 
207. M. Smith and M. McBride, Ashmore, 9 Brandon Street, Dunoon (letter dated 27th July 

2010); 
208. Mr. J. Douglas McCallum, Hoop House, Flat 4, 109 Bullwood Road, Innellan (letter dated 

16th July 2010); 
209. Email 
210. Maurice Bianchi, Kilmun (email dated 10th August 2010); 
211. Donald Ross and Catherine Ross, 104 Sandhaven, Sandbank (email dated 10th August 

2010); 
212. W. Craig, 3 Brae Cottages, Sandbank (email dated 27th July 2010); 
213. Margaret Holgate, St. Abbs, 24 Shore Road, Innellan (email dated 15th July 2010); 
214. Dr. Ann P. Carter and Mr. Clive C. Carter, 4 Hunters Grove, Hunters Quay (email dated 

24th July 2010); 
215. Susan Watling, Springfield Cottage, Wellington Street, Dunoon (email dated 24th July 

2010); 
216. Mrs. Lorna Rae, 58 Dixon Avenue, Kirn (email dated 27th July 2010); 
217. May Finnie, 11 Cammesreinach Crescent, Hunters Quay (email dated 20th July 2010); 
218. Fiona Morrison, 3 Dhailling Park, Kirn (email dated 15th July 2010); 
219. Ailsa Allaby, Braehead Cottage, Tighnabruaich (email dated 21st July 2010);   
220. Richard McGilvray, Innellan (email dated 20th July 2010); 
221. Helen Hackett, Lynnburn, 21 Bullwood Road, Dunoon (email dated 20th July 2010); 
222. Mrs. K.B. Wallace (email dated 16th July 2010); 
223. Mario Pellicci (email dated 16th July 2010) 

 
 

Page 13



Against 
 

1. GVA Grimley representing Wm Morrison Supermarkets plc (letter dated 27th July 
2010); 

2. GL Hearn representing the Co-operative Group (letters dated 20th May 2010, 27th 
October 2010 & 23 February 2011); 

3. Montagu Evans representing National Grid Property Holdings Ltd. (letters dated 23rd 
April and 6th May 2010); 

4. Mackays Stores Limited trading as M&Co (letter dated 7th September 2010) 
5. John C. MacLeod, The Paint and Hardware Shop, 124/126 Argyll Street, Dunoon 

(letter dated 28th July 2010); 
6. Jennifer A. Harrison and Anthony S. Watkins – The Swallow Café, 172 Argyll Street, 

Dunoon (letter dated 27th July 2010); 
7. Jack Gibson – Steven Gibson Ltd. 96 Argyll Street, Dunoon (letters dated 19th June 

and 20th July 2010); 
8. Alan Livingstone, Highland Stores, 152-6 Argyll Street, Dunoon (letter dated 6th 

December 2010) 
9. P. Hegarty and Mhairi Hegarty – Montgomery Butchers, Argyll Street, Dunoon (letter 

received 20th July 2010; 
10. Scott Docherty – The Codfathers Fishmongers, Argyll Street, Dunoon (letter received 

20th July 2010); 
11. Dinah McDonald – Bookpoint 6 Deer Park, Glen Massan (letters dated 1st June 2010 

& 7 February 2011); 
12. Brian Cunningham – ECO Health Shop, 40 Cromwell Street, Dunoon (email dated 

26th July 2010); 
13. Norman Wright - Wrights Clothing, 192 Argyll Street, Dunoon (email dated 22nd July 

2010); 
14. Murray – Cothouse Services, by Sandbank (email dated 27th July 2010); 
15. Email 
16. Alastair & Nora Cameron, 2 Avondale Lane, Bullwood Road, Dunoon (letter dated 8th 

October 2010); 
17. John Nicol, 1 Cherryhill, Kirn (letter dated 26th July 2010); 
18. Owner/Occupier, 1B Eccles Road, Hunters Quay, Dunoon (letter received 20th July 

2010); 
19. Vivien Hill, Rosehill, Strachur (letter received 20th July 2010); 
20. D. Manson, 3 West Street, Dunoon (letter dated 2nd July 2010); 
21. Gordon and Marjorie Roberts, 103 Shore Road, Innellan (letter dated 21st June 

2010); 
22. Lillian Gardner, Dalchruin, Baycroft, Strachur (letter dated 12th June 2010); 
23. Councillor Bruce Marshall (email dated 27th July 2010); 
24. Margaret Saidler (emails dated 16th June and 20th July 2010); 
25. Gwyneth Maskell (email dated 29th June 2010); 
26. Jean Maskell (email dated 9th June 2010); 
27. John Quirk, Dunmore House, 203A Alexandra Parade, Dunoon (email dated 26th July 

2010); 
 
 
Representation 
 
J. Hutchison, 2 Victoria Crescent, Kirn (letter received 30th July 2010). 
 

 

Page 14



 

Argyll and Bute Council 
Development and Infrastructure Services   

 
Delegated or Committee Planning Application Report and Report of handling as required 
by Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(Scotland) Regulations 2008 relative to applications for Planning Permission or Planning 
Permission in Principle 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Reference No: 10/00222/PPP 
 
Planning Hierarchy: Major 
 
Applicant:  CWP Property Development and Investment 
  
Proposal: Erection of Class 1 foodstore with associated development to include car 

parking, access road, road bridge, petrol filling station and engineering 
works. 

 
Site Address:  361 Argyll Street, Dunoon. 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
  
DECISION ROUTE  
 
(i) Local Government Scotland Act 1973 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(A)  THE APPLICATION 
 

(i) Development Requiring Express Planning Permission 
 

• Erection of Class 1 foodstore (3,716 sqm / 40,000sqft gross retail floorspace); 

• Formation of car parking (238 spaces); 
• Formation of access road and road bridge; 
• Erection of petrol filling station; 
• Ground engineering works to re-grade site; 
• Timber crib retention along banks of Milton Burn. 

  
(ii) Other specified operations 

 

• Connection to public sewer and public water supply 
• Demolition of existing Garden Centre and associated storage and commercial 
buildings. 

______________________________________________________________________ 
 
(B) RECOMMENDATION: 
 

It is recommended that: 
(a)   a discretionary local hearing be held, and  
(b)   planning permission be refused for the reasons set out below (in section R). 

____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(C) HISTORY:   
 

92/0498/DET001 Change of use and alterations to form garden centre granted 1992; 

93/00297/DET Extend retail premises, erect unit & relocate petrol station granted 1993; 

Page 15



 

 

94/00385/DET Erection of garage forecourt shop (amended proposals) granted 1994; 

05/02264/DET Erection of 2 warehouse storage buildings (Class 6) granted on 27th July 
2006. The proposal was never implemented; 

07/02189/COU Use of land for the siting of storage containers (retrospective) granted 3 
June 2008 and implemented. 

09/00003/PAN Proposal of Application Notice for erection of a Class 1 foodstore and 
associated development to include car parking, access road, road bridges, petrol filling 
station and engineering works by CWP Property Development and Investment 

07/01903/DET Detailed planning application by Kier Homes for a 74 house development 
on PDA 2/5. This application is currently being considered awaiting additional supporting 
information. 

____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(D) CONSULTATIONS:   
 

Area Roads Manager (response dated 16th September 2010): No objections subject to 
conditions and advisory notes. Roads Construction Consent, Road Bond and Road 
Opening Permit all required. For full details refer to report below.  
 
Public Protection (response dated 25th October 2010):  Recommend conditions in 
respect of contamination of site, noise from development, dust, lighting and operational 
hours.   
 
Scottish Environment Protection Agency (responses dated 19th March, 14th April 
2010): Original objection removed due to submission of revised flood risk information. No 
objections in principle subject to conditions regarding land raising, site levels and flood 
management measures including finished floor levels. Advisory notes. 
 
Scottish Water (response dated 25th February 2009): No objections in principle. Due to 
size of development Scottish Water will have to assess impact on existing infrastructure. 
Potential capacity issues. Advisory comments. 
 
Flood Alleviation Manager (response dated 31st March  and 18th August 2010) :Confirm 
that proposals in Flood Risk Assessment are acceptable on the understanding that the 
‘Summary and Conclusions’ are implemented and that allowances for freeboard and 
volumes of surface water discharge to Milton Burn are agreed with the Flooding 
Authority.  
Additional technical comments on Drainage Overview to be incorporated into proposals.   
  
Scottish Natural Heritage (responses dated 29th October 2009, 12th May 2010, and 
23rd August 2010): Recommend that a repeat survey be carried out for bats, otters, red 
squirrel, water vole and breeding birds. In terms of Sea Trout, SNH have forwarded 
details to Argyll District Salmon Fishery Board.  
On the basis of an updated Ecology Report, SNH now satisfied with the conclusions and 
mitigation measures for otters and breeding birds.  
 
Local Biodiversity Officer (response dated 13th May 2010, 23rd August 2010, and 11th 
October 2010): Reserve judgement initially. Comments regarding bat and otter surveys 
and recommend that red squirrel and woodland birds are monitored. Comments 
regarding Sea Trout and bridge construction in terms of contamination. Recommend that 
a detailed landscaping plan to include species of biodiversity interest be submitted for the 
car park and the area around the proposed supermarket.  

Page 16



 

On the basis of the updated Ecology Report, now satisfied with conclusions but would 
like to see bat boxes placed on retained trees near where felling has take place.    
 
Argyll District Salmon Fishery Board (response dated 27th November 2009): Original 
comments lodged as part of the Pre Application Consultation process. Comments 
regarding CAR regulations and mitigation requirements for trout and eels that are 
present in the Milton Burn that flows from Loch Loskin.  
 
West of Scotland Archaeology Service (response dated 11th March 2010): Comment 
that the site lies within an area of some archaeological sensitivity based on the presence 
of recorded sites and finds from various periods. Recommend that a site evaluation be 
carried out prior to taking a decision. Alternatively a suspensive condition is 
recommended to establish that a programme of archaeological works be agreed and 
implemented. 
 
Dunoon Community Council (response received 12th March 2010): Object on the basis 
of traffic congestion in the area, sightlines, noise and light pollution and flooding.  

____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(E) PUBLICITY:  
 

The application was advertised under Regulation 20(1) Advert Statement (publication 
date 5th August 2010, expiry date 27th August 2010). 
 

 
(F) REPRESENTATIONS:   
 

Representations: Around 1100 representations have been received with 30 letters/emails 
of objection and 1070 letters/emails of support. Refer to Appendix for full list of 
representations.  

 
Supporters 
 
The persons who have written letters of support (1070) are listed in an appendix to this 
report. The majority of these letters of support take the format of a standard petition 
letter. Canvassing by Walkers Garden Centre has resulted in a petition with 850 names, 
and a doorstep campaign by a local business owner has resulted in petition letters 
totalling approximately 160 names. The grounds of support are summarised as follows: 

 

• The new supermarket will improve the quality of food retail provision in the area; 

• The new supermarket will improve choice and bring lower prices for shoppers; 

• The new supermarket will provide new job opportunities (standard petition letter.) 

• It will save time and money travelling out of Dunoon;  

• Proposal will increase the number of people shopping in Dunoon; 

• Existing supermarkets are too small and constricted by lack of space; 

• Primary opposition appears to be local traders in Argyll Street; 

• Many people in Dunoon and Cowal regularly travel across the water for shopping – 
significant economic gain if this spending could be kept in Dunoon; 

• Wish to see large modern supermarket with plenty of choice and toilets; 

• Desire to do a single shopping in one store than driving from one supermarket to 
another; 

• Being able to shop, get petrol, coffee and the toilet in one place would be a bonus; 
 

It should be noted that a letter from Kier Homes (dated 15th December 2010) confirms 
that Kier’s contract with the landowners allows for the development of the site as part of 
a mixed-use development to include a foodstore development as proposed. On this 

Page 17



 

basis, Kier Homes wish to confirm that approval of the proposed foodstore development 
would not impeded the construction of housing on the remaining part of the site and 
would potentially rationalise infrastructure provision. In this context. Kier Homes remain 
committed to the delivery of housing at Dunloskin.   

 
Objectors 

 
Those who have raised objections (30) are listed in an appendix to this report. These 
include objections from the existing supermarkets, the owners of the Gasworks site and 
many of the town centre retailers.   

 

• The proposal in an out of centre location will promote unsustainable shopping 
patterns and will not support Dunoon Town Centre; 

• the former Dunoon Gasworks site is in a sequentially preferable location and 
available for medium scale retail development and therefore the proposal is contrary 
to PROP SET2 of the Structure Plan and policy LP RET1 of the adopted Argyll and 
Bute Local Plan; 

• the proposal will prejudice the delivery of housing allocations PDA 2/5 and 2/6; the 
retail impact assessment underestimates the net floorspace and company average 
of Morrisons and underestimates the turnover of the existing Co-op store that is 
considerably higher than the figures suggested; 

• also feel that company average turnover applied to other convenience floorspace in 
the catchment are overly conservative; 

• do not feel that future projected population growth should be used in the estimation 
of retail capacity; 

• the turnover of the proposed store has been underestimated and the turnover ratios 
used are much lower than the company average figures for the main foodstores in 
the UK; 

• no justification to support the position that the proposed store would trade at a level 
significantly below company average levels; 

• Surplus of convenience expenditure in the catchment area is not sufficient to support 
a store of the scale proposed without having a significant adverse impact upon 
Dunoon Town Centre; 

• Maximum trade leakage lower than forecasted based on existing convenience 
expenditure; 

• Proposal would be contrary to SPP8 in that the development would have a 
detrimental impact on the vitality and viability of Dunoon Town Centre; 

• Proposed development is a departure from the Local Plan 

• Dunoon currently has two supermarkets, both of which have the potential for 
expansion; 

• Introducing a third supermarket located so far out of town will have result in a drastic 
decline in footfall in the town centre (town centre shops will see a decrease in 
turnover of 9.4%).  

• Findings in the Retail Impact Study are misleading and biased.  

• An independent Retail Impact Study should be carried out to gain an accurate 
assessment of the impact the development would have on town centre retailers; 

• Experience shows that out of town centres have a detrimental impact on traditional 
town centres; 

• The proposal could lead to the closure of one of the existing supermarkets; 

• Closure of retail outlets in Dunoon Town Centre will have a detrimental effect on the 
number of day visitors visiting Dunoon; 

• Current economic climate already affecting Dunoon Town Centre in terms of closed 
shops and struggling businesses; 

• Any employment created would be short lived with cumulative impact of closed 
shops and loss of jobs from existing supermarkets; 

Page 18



 

• The present regeneration of Dunoon Town Centre would be seriously undermined 
by an out of town development; 

• Morrisons provide a facility for linked trips where its proximity within the town centre 
allows shoppers to purchase goods from a range of town centre shops from a 
central parking facility; 

• Alternative land uses should be promoted through the local plan process;   

• Catchment area cannot sustain three supermarkets and town centre shops; 

• Large retailers compete against every type of business trading in the area;  

• Contradictions and misleading information in the Planning and Retail Statement; 

• Applicant has acknowledged that the store is out of centre and that there will be 
significant trade diversion from Dunoon town centre;  

• Visitors come to Dunoon want to wander the shops in the town centre, not to visit 
another supermarket; 

• Object to the desecration of large areas of natural landscape; 

• “The Health of the High Street” by the British Shops and Stores Association stresses 
the importance of a health High Street and there is a move nationally to revitalise 
and promote our town centres; 

• Suggested similar examples e.g. Huntly are actually experiencing serious problems 
with an edge of town supermarket competing with town businesses and in breach of 
convenience only planning conditions; 

• Proposed development will exacerbate existing traffic congestion problems; 

• Dunoon need improved leisure and social facilities, not another supermarket; 

• New junction will cause traffic flow problems especially at peak times; 

• Surrounding uses requiring a quick exit i.e. Fire Station, Emergency Ambulance and 
Hospital; 

• Bridges across the Milton Burn are a potential for flooding; 
 

The owners of the Gasworks site (National Grid Property) have confirmed (letter dated 
28th February 2011) that their site is available for redevelopment for an appropriate use 
on vacant land that is sequentially preferable to the CWP proposal. NGP also confirm 
that they are actively considering submitting a Proposal of Application Notice (PAN) with 
the intention of submitting a retail planning application in due course.  
NGP state that the gasworks site has been remediated in readiness for beneficial reuse 
and feasibility works undertaken shows that the site could easily accommodate a 
standard retail foodstore extending in the region of 3,000sqm (32,000sqft) gross. 
Contrary to CWP’s assertions, NGP do not consider that either the linear shape of the 
gasworks site or the existence of a watercourse represent insurmountable constraints to 
redeveloping the site for retail use.  
NGP have submitted details from a range of retail schemes that CWP have been 
involved with where a site of the size of the gasworks site would be attractive to modern 
food store operators.        
In terms of suggestions that the site is at risk of flooding, appropriate mitigation 
measures can be accommodated which would protect proposed development at the site 
whilst not increasing the risk of flooding elsewhere. 
 
The Co-operative Group (represented by GL Hearn) in their letter dated 24th February 
2011 state that the revised retail statement continues to rely upon data sourced from the 
National Survey of Local Shopping Patterns (NSLSP) patterns to support the views on 
the turnover of existing retail floorspace and the leakage of trade stores outwith the 
catchment area. It is suggested that the NSLSPIS not sufficiently robust to be applied at 
a local level and is not an appropriate tool for estimating the turnover of existing retail 
floorspace. A well designed household survey is considered to provide more accurate 
information such as: - specific stores used by main food shoppers, reason for visiting 
certain stores, how they travel, whether they are undertaking linked trips and how much 
they spend in each store.  These views are supported by the Scottish Government’s 
2007 research paper on retail planning which establishes that only well designed 

Page 19



 

household surveys can be used to provide estimates of the turnover of existing 
floorspace and even then, that household surveys cannot provide 100% accurate 
information on expenditure flows and turnover rates.  
It is concluded that there is no justification for a large out-of-centre foodstore and the 
scale is likely to have a significant adverse impact on the vitality and viability of the 
existing shopping facilities in Dunoon town centre. Despite revising their Retail Impact 
Analysis, the applicants have not offered any meaningful justification to support their 
view that the proposed store will trade below company average levels and will have a 
limited impact on Dunoon town centre.      

___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(G) SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
 Has the application been the subject of: 
 

(i) Environmental Statement:  No 
 

(ii) An appropriate assessment under the Conservation (Natural Habitats) 
Regulations 1994:   No 

 
(iii) A design or design/access statement:   Yes.  
 

Revised Design and Access Statement (December 2010) states that the 
topography of the site has dictated the orientation and location of the building. 
Existing and proposed screening in addition to excavation and use of a curved 
roof will all help to integrate the building into the landscape. While buildings are 
indicative at this stage, careful use of materials for the foodstore building and 
petrol filling station will reduce any perceived bulk. The organisation of the car 
park into rows makes navigating in and out of the store easy for vehicles and 
customers. The extruded entrance lobby can be clearly identified giving legibility 
to the scheme. The statement  concludes that the proposed development aims to 
achieve the qualities of successful, places as highlighted by PAN67: to be 
welcoming, adaptable, easy to get to and move around, safe and pleasant, 
resource efficient and distinctive.   
 

(iv) A report on the impact of the proposed development e.g. Retail impact, 
transport impact, noise impact, flood risk, drainage impact etc:  Yes 
 
‘Planning and Retail Statement’ (Revised) dated January 2011 by James Barr; 
Concludes that the proposed development:- 
 

• is acceptable in the context of National, Strategic and Local planning 
policy; 

• is consistent with the aims and objectives of the PDA  allocation as it 
seeks to assist in the delivery of housing units; 

• can be considered consistent with policy PROP SET 2 and Policy LP 
RET1 of the Local Plan; 

• meets the sequential approach as there are no suitable sites or vacant 
premises located within or adjacent to the town centre and the site is an 
out of centre site that is easily accessible by a choice of modes of 
transport, particularly walking; 

• will meet both a quantitative and qualitative deficiency within catchment 
and town; 

• will improve customer choice where retail provision is limited for main food 
shopping; 

• is easily accessible by pedestrians and public transport; 

Page 20



 

• will not have a significant adverse impact on Dunoon Town Centre; and, 

• will provide additional employment opportunities in the local area.    
 
‘Transport Assessment’ dated February 2010 by Savell Bird & Axon; 
The Transport Assessment confirms that the local road network will continue to 
operate within capacity with the addition of traffic associated with the proposed 
development. The proposal includes a number of features to improve accessibility 
e.g. footway along the southern side of the supermarket access road, 
replacement footway along Argyll Street frontage, provision of cycle stands and 
retention and relocation of two bus stops on Argyll Street. A Travel Plan will also 
require to be developed and agreed with the Council.  
 
The ‘Design and Access Statement’ (revised December 2010) states that the 
building and external works aim to be welcoming, flexible inclusive and 
convenient for all regardless of age or disability. A continuous pedestrian route 
will be provided from Argyll Street into the site and along the frontage without 
ramps or stairs. Cycle stands, accessible parking spaces and parent and child 
parking spaces are all proposed.   
 
‘Flood Risk Assessment’ dated 21st January 2010 by Kaya ConsultingLtd.; 
This assessment considered flood risk from the Milton Burn, from three unnamed 
tributary watercourses and from surface water run-off generated from outwith the 
site. The areas proposed for the superstore and petrol filling station are outwith 
the predicted functional floodplain. However, a number of minor drainage issues 
can be addressed satisfactorily during the detailed design stage. The eventual 
bridge design can also be modelled to avoid flood risk to others.   
 
‘Site Flooding/Sustainable Drainage Overview Study Rev A’ by Scott Bennett 
Associates dated August 2010; 
This report incorporates the findings of the Kaya Flood Risk Assessment and 
contains proposals for flood risk, SUDS measures including surface water 
storage attenuation below the car park, swales, filter strips and porous paving. 
The report concludes that based on the strategy and surface water management 
proposed, there would be no significant flood risk to either the development or to 
adjacent properties.   
 
‘Ecology Report Rev 03’ dated July 2010 by CB Consulting and Wild Surveys. 
The report confirms no statutory designated sites or non-designated sites within 
or adjacent to the site. Desk and field studies identify otter activity, bats, water 
voles and breeding birds and appropriate mitigation measures are proposed to 
avoid or minimise impacts.   
 
‘Consultation Report Stage II’ dated 1st October 2010 by James Harbison & Co; 
While not a formal requirement, this document demonstrates the commitment to 
engage with the communities of Dunoon and Cowal. Further consultations show 
a cumulative support for the proposals and as at 1st October 2010 1750 names 
have been gathered from a wide spectrum of the Dunoon and Cowal community 
based on returns received from public exhibition, Dunoon and Cowal Business 
Association, Community Council Debate, Senior Citizens’ Group. Local survey, 
Walker’s customer petition plus website support and Facebook support.    
 

____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 

Page 21



 

(H) PLANNING OBLIGATIONS 
 

(i) Is a Section 75 agreement required:  No. Application is recommended for 
refusal.  

____________________________________________________________________________ 
 

(I) Has a Direction been issued by Scottish Ministers in terms of Regulation 30, 31 or 
32:  No 

____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(J)  Section 25 of the Act; Development Plan and any other material considerations 

over and above those listed above which have been taken into account in the 
assessment of the application 

 
(i)  List of all Development Plan Policy considerations taken into account in 

assessment of the application. 
 

‘Argyll and Bute Structure Plan’ (2002) 

STRAT SI 1 - Sustainable Development;   
STRAT DC1 - Development Within the Settlements; 
STRAT DC7 – Nature Conservation and Development Control;  
STRAT HO1 – Housing – Development Control Policy; 
STRAT DC8 – Landscape and Development Control; 
STRAT DC9 – Historic Environment and Development Control; 
STRAT FW2 – Development Impact on Woodland; 
STRAT DC10 – Flooding and Land Erosion; 
PROP SET2 – Town Centres and Retailing; 
PROP TRANS1 - Development Control, Transport and Access. 

  
‘Argyll and Bute Local Plan’ (2009) 

The application site is located within the extended settlement boundary of Dunoon and 
partly within PDA 2/5 where the following policies are applicable: 
 
LP ENV1 Development Impact on the General Environment;  
LP ENV6 Development Impact on Habitats and Species;  
LP ENV7 Development Impact on Trees/Woodland; 
LP ENV17 Development Impact on Sites of Archaeological Importance;  

    LP ENV19 Development Setting, Layout and Design (including Appendix A Sustainable 
Siting and Design Principles) and Sustainable Design Guidance; 
LP HOU1 General Housing Development;  
LP HOU2 Provision of Housing to meet Local Needs including Affordable Housing 
Provision;  
LP HOU4 Housing Green Space;  
LP BAD1 Bad Neighbour Development;  
LP RET 1 Retail Development in the Towns – The Sequential Approach; 
LP SERV1 Private Sewage Treatment Plants and Wastewater Systems;  
LP SERV2 Incorporation of Natural Features/Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS);  
LP SERV3 Drainage Impact Assessment (DIA);  
LP SERV7 Contaminated Land; 
LP SERV8 Flooding and Land Erosion;  
LP TRAN1 Public Access and Rights of Way;  
LP TRAN2 Development and Public Transport Accessibility;  
LP TRAN3 Special Needs Access Provision;  
LP TRAN4 New and Existing, Public Roads and Private Access Regimes;  
LP TRAN5 Off site Highway Improvements;  
LP TRAN6 Vehicle Parking Provision;  

Page 22



 

(ii) List of all other material planning considerations taken into account in the 
assessment of the application, having due regard to Annex A of Circular 4/2009.   

 

• Scottish Planning Policy (February 2010), paras. 52-65  

• Planning Advice Note 2/2010 – ‘Affordable Housing’; 

• Planning Advice Note 52 – ‘Planning in Small Towns’; 

• Planning Advice Note 59 – ‘Improving Town Centres’; 

• Planning Advice Note 67 – ‘Housing Quality’; 

• Planning Advice Note 68 – ‘Design Statements’; 

• ‘A Policy Statement for Scotland - Designing Places’; 

• Consultee Responses; 

• Third Party Representation; 

• Scottish Government - Town Centre and Retailing Methodologies: Final Report 
(2007); 

• EKOS (Economic and Social Development) – Dunoon Locality Socio-Economic 
Baseline Report. 

____________________________________________________________________________ 
 

(K) Is the proposal a Schedule 2 Development not requiring an Environmental Impact 
Assessment:  Yes 

 
As an urban development project exceeding 0.5 hectares in size, the proposal would 
represent Schedule 2 development under the Regulations.  In determining whether 
the proposal represents EIA development, the Council has considered the selection 
criteria set out in Schedule 3 of the Regulations. With regard to the characteristics of 
the development and the environmental sensitivity of the location, it is noted that part 
of the site is occupied by commercial buildings and the western half of the site 
allocated in the Argyll and Bute Local Plan for housing development with an 
application currently being processed. For these reasons, it is considered that the 
proposed development does not require an EIA.  

____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(L) Has the application been the subject of statutory pre-application consultation 

(PAC):  Yes 
 

‘Pre-application Consultation Report’ dated 27th January 2010 by James Harbison & Co; 
The Pre-application Consultation (PAC) Report confirmed that a public exhibition was 
held in Queens Hall on 16/17 October 2009 where approximately 400 people visited and 
filled out questionnaires. Despite 74%  doing their main food shopping in Dunoon, 61% 
felt that a new supermarket is needed in Dunoon and 70% supported the proposal for a 
new supermarket on the proposed Argyll Street site. Findings demonstrate a significant 
leakage of food shoppers who choose to undertake their main weekly shop outside 
Dunoon and research indicates that the market share to town centre food retailers 
(excluding Morrisons and the Co-op) is 7%. 

____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(M) Has a sustainability check list been submitted:  Yes - received 11th May 2010. 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(N) Does the Council have an interest in the site:  No 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



 

(O) Requirement for a hearing (PAN41 or other):  Yes 
 

The proposal represents a departure from the Development Plan and is recommended 
for refusal. In view of the complexity of the proposal, its potential impacts on the 
landscape and environment of a wider area, and the volume of representations by 
consultees, affected local businesses and individuals, it is recommended that a 
discretionary local hearing be held before finally determining the application. 

___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(P) Assessment and summary of determining issues and material considerations 
 

The proposed retail development is located on the north western outskirts of Dunoon, 
and includes part of a Potential Development Area (PDA 2/5) at Dunloskin Farm 
identified in the Argyll and Bute Local Plan as suitable for medium density housing 
(including 25% affordable) development.  The site is outwith the identified town centre 
which is identified as the preferred location for new retail investment.  It is also outwith 
the defined edge of town centre location, which in the absence of suitable town centre 
sites, is the sequentially preferred location for retail development. 
 
The applicant suggests that there is currently significant trade diversion (or leakage) out 
of the Dunoon catchment area due to existing choice and quality of main convenience 
shopping within Dunoon. The applicant feels that a large foodstore at the edge of the 
Dunoon settlement will arrest that trade diversion offering competition, choice, lower 
prices and new jobs to Dunoon.  
 
The application site lies within the main town settlement of Dunoon but outwith Dunoon 
Town Centre and the Edge of Centre zone as identified in the Argyll and Bute Local Plan 
(August 2009). The proposal is therefore considered as an ‘out-of-town’ location. 
  
In line with Scottish Planning Policy and the Argyll and Bute Structure Plan policy Prop 
Set 2, the Argyll and Bute Local Plan establishes a presumption in favour of retail 
development within town centres, and adopts a sequential approach to retail 
development outwith town centres, firstly to sites within identified edge of town centre 
locations, and then to other sites which are accessible or can be made accessible by a 
choice of means of transport (see policy LP RET 1) elsewhere within the town.  The 
policy requires that in any of these cases that there is no significant detrimental impact 
on the vitality or viability of existing town centres, and the proposal is consistent with the 
other structure and local plan policies.   The policy allows for a retail impact assessment 
to be requested to demonstrate the anticipated impact of the proposal on the town 
centre. 
 
The applicants have therefore submitted a Planning and Retail assessment which seeks 
to address the policy issues in relation to both the sequential test issue and the retail 
impact on the town centre.  The applicants suggest that the only available alternative site 
is the former Dunoon Gasworks site on Argyll Street/Hamilton Street, but this site has 
been discounted due to its size and configuration.     
 
The proposal is also regarded by the applicants as a method to facilitate a residential 
development in the rear part of Potential Development Area 2/5 Dunloskin Farm, which is 
currently the subject of an application for 74 houses for the entire site by Kier Homes. 
The current application must therefore also be assessed on its impact on this potential 
housing site with almost half of the PDA site proposed for the foodstore and associated 
buildings and land.  
 
The proposed foodstore would be more than double the size of the existing Morrisons 
Store and have a petrol filling station and large car park adjacent. The applicants feel 
that the proposal will keep the trade diversion within Dunoon that would significantly 

Page 24



 

reduce the number of trips made for main food shopping and keep this lost expenditure 
within Dunoon. 
    
Around 1100 representations have been received with 30 letters of objection and 1070 
letters in support of the application, as detailed in appendices. Many of these indications 
of support take the form of a petition. Objections have been received from many town 
centre traders including the two existing supermarkets and the owners of the former 
Gasworks site who have confirmed that they wish to develop their site for supermarket 
usage.  
 
The proposal is considered to be contrary to the settlement strategy for Dunoon with 
policies to support the town centre function as the focus for retailing. It is also considered 
that the scale and location of the proposed development would have a significant 
detrimental impact on the viability and vitality of Dunoon Town Centre and other retail 
outlets. It is considered that the protection of Dunoon Town Centre and its established 
retailing outlets as a retailing centre and tourist centre outweigh any clawback of 
perceived leakage to areas outwith the catchment.   
 
Given all of the above, the application is considered to be contrary to policies contained 
in National Planning Policy Guidance, the Argyll and Bute Structure Plan and the Argyll 
and Bute Local Plan and does not justify the grant of planning permission.  

____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(Q) Is the proposal consistent with the Development Plan:  No 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(R) Reasons why Planning Permission in Principle should be refused 
 

1. The proposed development would undermine the settlement strategy that supports 
Dunoon Town Centre and its edge of centre locations as preferred locations for retail 
purposes. The proposal to site a major foodstore in an ‘out-of-town’ location could have 
the potential to undermine and potentially harm the character and status of Dunoon 
Town Centre as an established traditional town centre location and function.  
Accordingly, the proposed development would be contrary to Policy STRAT SI 1, STRAT 
DC1, PROP SET 2, PROP SET3 and PROP SET4 of the Argyll and Bute Structure Plan 
(November 2002), and to policies LP ENV1, ENV19 and P/PDA 1 of the Argyll and Bute 
Local Plan (August 2009).  
 

2. The proposal is considered to be contrary to the policy LP RET 1 of the Argyll and Bute 
Local Plan (August 2009). The proposed foodstore is outwith Dunoon Town Centre, an 
alternative sequentially better site is available within the edge of town centre, and there 
is a significant detrimental impact on the vitality and viability of the town centre and other 
retail outlets,  
The proposal is not consistent with Development Plan Policy, as the sequential test has 
not been satisfied, and that it would be possible to provide a smaller store, more 
appropriate to the catchment area’s available expenditure either within the defined town 
centre, or edge of town centre areas. 
 
Accordingly, the proposed development would be contrary to Scottish Planning Policy 
(February 2010, paras. 52-65), to PROP SET 2 of the Argyll and Bute Structure Plan 
(November 2002), and to policy LP RET 1 of the Argyll and Bute Local Plan (August 
2009).  
 

3. The proposed foodstore and car parking area is located partly within Potential 
Development Area (PDA 2/5) identified in the Argyll and Bute Local Plan (August 2009) 
for housing, and consequently it is therefore not consistent with the other local plan 
policies relating to development of PDAs and to housing. 

Page 25



 

Notwithstanding the above conflict with retail policy, an application with an indicative 
layout for 74 houses had been submitted, the proposed layout submitted shows 42 
houses on the rear part of the site, a loss of 32 units.  This is a considerable reduction 
and a clear conflict with the local plan policy for the development of PDAs.  Policy LP 
HOU 2 on affordable housing would also apply to this PDA in its entirety.  The layout for 
the development of the site for housing shows 74 houses, the affordable housing policy 
requires 19 of these to be affordable, and the proposal would result in the loss of 8 of 
these.   
 
Accordingly, the proposed development would be contrary to Policy STRAT SI 1, STRAT 
DC1, PROP SET 2, PROP SET3 and PROP SET4 of the Argyll and Bute Structure Plan 
(November 2002), and to policies LP ENV1, ENV19, HOU1, HOU2 and P/PDA 1 of the 
Argyll and Bute Local Plan (August 2009).  
 

4. The development proposes a major foodstore on the upper (west) part of the site 
adjacent to Dunoon Cemetery and adjacent to an area of woodland that is considered to 
be a key landscape feature. The siting of the building in this upper and highly prominent 
part of the site would require ground engineering (and retaining features) to re-grade the 
slopes to accommodate the large commercial building. The commercial building itself 
would be located in a dominant position at the back of the site and lacks any traditional 
design features. The indicative curved metal clad roof and bland elevational treatment 
are typical of a unit within a retail park and do not befit the semi-rural nature of the 
application site. The provision of a large car park area in front of the superstore presents 
an equally bland and urbanised design feature that does not integrate well within the 
immediate surroundings.  Furthermore, the proposed development would diminish the 
environmental quality of any housing development in the remaining part of Potential 
Development Area (PDA 2/5) identified in the Argyll and Bute Local Plan. 
 

Accordingly, the proposed development would be contrary to Policies STRAT SI 1, 
STRAT DC1, of the Argyll and Bute Structure Plan (November 2002), and to policies LP 
ENV1, ENV19 (including Appendix A Sustainable Siting and Design Principles) and 
Sustainable Design Guidance) and HOU1  of  the Argyll and Bute Local Plan (August 
2009).  

 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(S) Reasoned justification for a departure from the provisions of the Development 

Plan 
 
 No, the application is recommended for refusal. 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(T) Need for notification to Scottish Ministers or Historic Scotland:  No. 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Author of Report: Brian Close      Date:  4th March 2011 
 
Reviewing Officer:  David Eaglesham    Date:  4th March 2011 
 
 
Angus Gilmour 
Head of Planning 

Page 26



 

APPENDIX A – RELATIVE TO APPLICATION NUMBER: 10/00222/PPP 
 
PLANNING LAND USE AND POLICY ASSESSMENT 
 
A. Settlement Strategy 
 

The application site lies within the Main Town settlement of Dunoon, as defined in the Argyll 
and Bute Local Plan. In the Argyll and Bute Structure Plan, policy STRAT DC 1 supports 
development that serves a wide community of interest including ‘large scale’ development 
on appropriate infill, rounding-off and re-development sites. Developments which do not 
accord with this policy are those which are essentially incompatible with the close 
configuration of land uses found in settlement e.g. development which results in excessively 
high development densities, settlement cramming or inappropriate rounding-off on the edge 
of settlements.  
Schedule R1 of Policy LP RET 1 of the Argyll and Bute Local Plan defines ‘large scale’ retail 
development as being in excess of 1000sqm gross floor space (the proposal is for 3,716 
sqm gross). Dunoon already has two large scale retail foodstores located in the Main Town 
Centre and Edge of Town Centre. In addition, Structure Plan Policy PROP SET 3 promotes 
the use of Brownfield sites over Greenfield sites in the interests of sustainable development. 
 
PROP SET 2 of the Argyll and Bute Structure Plan seeks to sustain the viability and vitality 
of town centres where a sequential approach to retail development will be adopted. Policy 
LP RET 1 of the Argyll and Bute Local Plan states a presumption in favour of retail 
development  (Use Classes 1, 2 and 3) provided it is within a defined town centre or where 
the developer demonstrates that no suitable sites within defined town centres are available, 
on the edge of a defined town centre.  Where the developer demonstrates that no suitable 
sites are available within defined town centres, or on the edge of defined town centres, 
elsewhere in the town in a location that is or can be made accessible by a choice of means 
of transport and that there would be no significant detrimental impact on the vitality or 
viability of existing town centres and the proposal is consistent with other Structure and 
Local Plan policies.  
In terms of the retailing policies above, the proposed large scale retail foodstore is at the 
edge of the settlement of Dunoon but outwith the preferred Main Town Centre and Edge of 
Centre zones. 
 
The application site includes the eastern half of Potential Development Area 2/5 ‘Dunloskin’ 
that is identified in the Argyll and Bute Local Plan for medium density housing with 25% 
affordability. An application (ref. 07/01903/DET) for 74 dwellinghouses is currently being 
considered for PDA 2/5 which proposes an alternative river crossing across the Milton Burn 
north of Walker’s Garden Centre.  
 
It is considered that in land use terms, the location of a third supermarket within Dunoon to 
serve the convenience shopping needs throughout the Cowal catchment is inconsistent with 
the Settlement Strategy set out in the Development Plan. The location of a large foodstore 
at the edge of the settlement has the potential to compete with Dunoon Town Centre and 
Edge of Centre zone to the detriment of the town centre function. The choice of this 
particular location at the edge of the settlement is assessed below in terms of the 
‘sequential approach’ to retail development set out in the Scottish Planning Policy (SPP). 
 
Additionally, the proposal would have a significant impact on PDA 2/5 that has been 
allocated for housing purposes to meet housing provision under PROP SET4 and 
settlement plans under PROP SET5 of the Argyll and Bute Structure Plan.   
  
Accordingly, in terms of the settlement strategy, the proposal would be inconsistent 
with policies STRAT SI 1, STRAT DC1, PROP SET2, PROP SET3, PROP SET4 and 
PROP SET5 of the Argyll and Bute Structure Plan, and policies LP ENV1, LP ENV 19, 
LP HOU1 and LP RET 1 of the Argyll and Bute Local Plan.  

Page 27



 

B. Location, Nature and Design of Proposed Development 
 

(a) Location 
 

The application site (2.26 Ha) comprises Walker’s Garden Centre and Filling Station and 
associated commercial and storage units, and a field to the west across the Milton Burn. 
 
The application site is bounded by Dunloskin Farm amongst grazing fields and woodland to 
the north, A885 Argyll Street and Dunoon Hospital to the east, Dunoon Fire Station, 
Hamilton Street Yard and Dunoon Cemetery to the south and grazing fields with woodland 
to the west. The Milton Burn runs through the site from north to south. The site slopes from 
west to east but lessens towards the Milton Burn where the developed eastern portion of 
the site is relatively level.  
 
In policy and land use terms, the application site includes the eastern half of Potential 
Development Area PDA 2/5 ‘Dunloskin’ that is identified for medium density housing with 
25% affordability. A proposal for a residential development of 74 houses (ref. 
07/01903/DET) is currently being considered but the current proposal would result in the 
loss of 32 units (including the site’s attenuation pond). This scheme involves a different 
access and would be located north of the existing petrol filling station and potentially involve 
the re-routing of the Milton Burn.   

 
 

(b) Nature and Design of Proposed Development 
 

The proposal necessitates the demolition of the entire Walker’s Garden Centre site 
including the petrol filling station and associated commercial, industrial and storage uses.  
 
The proposal involves the erection of a large scale retail foodstore (3,716 sqm / 40,000sqft 
gross retail floorspace) on the site of the garden centre and land to the west, adjacent to 
Dunoon Cemetery. An indicative site layout shows the rectangular footprint of a building 
some 70 x 55 metres, orientated with its long main elevation facing eastwards with the 
southern gable located a few metres away from the cemetery wall. Images depict a typical 
modern supermarket building with glazed entrance feature and curved metal roof. A large 
car parking area is proposed between the foodstore and the Milton Burn that would provide 
238 parking spaces including 14 disabled spaces. A new main vehicular access is proposed 
from the A885 Argyll Street (on the site of the existing Walkers Garden Centre) across the 
Milton Burn via a new bridge and serving the car park, foodstore service yard and 
remainder of PDA 2/5 to the west.The proposal also includes the erection of a new petrol 
filling station with car wash close to the site of the existing facility.   
  
Whilst no end-user has been identified, the applicant comments that the proposed foodstore 
is aimed at a retail occupier from one of four mainstream food retailers – Tesco, Morrisons, 
ASDA and Sainsburys. The nature of the store will be predominantly focused on 
convenience goods to provide for main food shopping requirements but will also include a 
limited range of comparison goods. The proposed store has a gross external floor space of 
3,716 sqm with a total net retail area of 2,228 sqm. This will comprise an estimated 1,448 
sqm net convenience goods floor space and 780sqm comparison goods floor space (i.e. a 
65/35 convenience/comparison split). It is indicated that a mainstream store such as this 
could carry over 20,000 lines of goods for sale. This will predominantly concentrate on 
‘brand’ labels but will also include ‘own label’ brands. Convenience goods provided in the 
store will include fresh foods such as breads, fruit and vegetables, meats, dairy produce 
and fish. The store will also have large ranges of pre-packed and frozen foods. A limited 
range of comparison goods could include such items as CD/DVDs, textiles, towels and 
bedding. It is suggested that the development could create 280 new permanent jobs in a 
mixture of full and part-time plus 60 construction jobs. 
 

Page 28



 

Policy LP ENV19 of the Argyll and Bute Local Plan includes in Appendix A Sustainable 
Siting and Design Principles design guidance relative to ‘Isolated/Commercial 
Development’;  
 
18.1 the appearance of the development should be considered. The form and pattern of the 
landscape will largely determine the acceptability of the proposal..... The extent to which the 
proposal would be clearly visible from public roads, viewpoints and neighbouring local 
communities is also an important factor.  
 
18.2 When assessing the appearance of isolated commercial development, the Planning 
Authority will take the following into consideration: 
 
• The size and extent of the proposal. This includes the visual impact of the scheme and the 
distance/location from which it is visible; 
 
• The location of the proposal and its landscape setting, including the way in which the 
development has used the natural contours of the site is of prime importance. A large 
building must be absorbed by the landscape as much as possible, whether by excavating 
and building into the landform, using existing landforms to mask the development or 
screening by new trees;  
 
• The design and colour of the development(s) and ancillary structures can be used to 
minimise their perceived bulk and visual impact. Natural materials such as timber and stone 
will help to fit a large building into the landscape, as will dark natural colours (particularly on 
the roof). 
   
In their Design and Access Statement, the applicants comment that the topography of the 
site has dictated the orientation and location of the building. Existing and proposed tree 
planting in addition to excavation and use of a curved roof will all help to integrate the 
building into the landscape. While buildings are indicative at this stage, careful use of 
materials for the foodstore building and petrol filling station will reduce any perceived bulk. 
 
The proposed metal-roofed supermarket building would be located adjacent to Dunoon 
Cemetery to the rear of an expansive car parking area. In terms of siting, the Flood Risk 
Assessment confirms that the proposed superstore and petrol filling station are outwith the 
predicted functional floodplain of Milton Burn and other watercourses. Accordingly, the siting 
of the foodstore at the rear of the site will require ground engineering works to re-grade the 
slopes with potential retaining structures to address the topography of the site. In terms of 
design, neither the supermarket building nor the car park pays any respect to the semi-rural 
surroundings and the overall effect is to urbanise the area. The lack of suitable screening 
and proposed siting, scale, design and materials of the proposed superstore would not be 
absorbed by the landscape but represent an incongruous feature that would appear alien in 
its relationship to Dunoon Cemetery and potential housing development to the rear.     
 
Additionally, the location of the supermarket at the rear of the site has the potential to 
seriously compromise a suitable setting and layout for housing on the remainder of PDA 
2/5. The loss of 32 residential units from the 74 houses proposed in the Kier Homes 
application has implications for resulting site density and ability to produce a harmonious 
layout in terms of plot ratios, landscaping and integration of key natural features.     
 
It is considered that the proposed development does not respect the landscape character or 
setting of the area with an incongruous layout and design that is inconsistent with the 
provisions of Policy LP ENV 19 and Appendix A of the Argyll and Bute Local Plan together 
with the Council’s Design Guide.  
.   

Page 29



 

Although these issues could be mitigated during consideration of any detailed submission 
for either the supermarket or the housing within the remainder of the PDA, , the proposal is 
considered to be contrary to Policy STRAT SI 1 of the Argyll and Bute Structure Plan 
2002 and to Policies LP ENV 1 and ENV 19 and Appendix A of the Argyll and Bute 
Local Plan (August 2009). 

 

C. Retail Policy Considerations 
 

In policy terms the retail policy LP RET 1 of the Argyll and Bute Local Plan is the principal 
policy against which the proposals should be assessed.  Also of relevance is the fact that 
the site of the supermarket and its associated car park forms part of a larger Potential 
Development Area (PDA 2/5) identified as suitable for housing development, subject to 
addressing master plan and access constraints. 

 
 

(i) The Sequential Approach to Retail Development in Towns 
 

Scottish Planning Policy (SPP), Argyll and Bute Structure Plan Proposal PROP SET 2 and 
Argyll and Bute Local Plan Policy LP RET 1 set out that a sequential approach to site 
selection for retail development will be undertaken to ensure that new development does 
not undermine the vitality and viability of existing town centres. The SPP and Local Plan 
sets out that site locations should be assessed in the following order: 

 

• Town centre sites; 
• Edge of centre sites; 
• Other commercial centres identified within the development plan; 
• Out of centre sites in locations that are, or can be made, easily accessible by a choice of 
transport modes. 

 
Policy LP RET 1 Retail Development in the Towns – The Sequential Approach 
 
There will be a presumption in favour of retail development (Use classes 1, 2 and 3) 
provided: 
(A) It is within a defined town centre; OR, 
(B) Where the developer demonstrates that no suitable sites within defined town centres 
are available, on the edge of a defined town centre; OR, 
(C) Where the developer demonstrates that no suitable sites are available within defined 
town centres, or on the edge of defined town centres, elsewhere in the town in a location 
that is or can be made accessible by a choice of means of transport; AND IN ANY OF 
THESE CASES, 
(D) There is no significant detrimental impact on the vitality or viability of existing town 
centres (the Council may request an assessment at the developer’s expense, as it 
considers necessary, to establish this, and may require applications to be accompanied 
by a reasoned statement of the anticipated impact of the proposal on the town centre); 
AND, 
(E) The proposal is consistent with the other Structure and Local Plans policies. 

 
The first aspect of LP RET 1 which requires to be considered is the availability of sites 
within Dunoon town centre, and then edge of town centre locations.  Given the traditional 
nature of the town centre, it is accepted that there are no suitable sites within the town 
centre its self.  However, within the edge of town centre designation the former Dunoon 
Gasworks site bounded by Argyll Street, Hamilton Street and the Milton Burn and south of 
Walkers Garden Centre has been assessed by the applicants in terms of the retail 
sequential test. This site (1.21 Ha / 12,100 sqm) has recently undergone remediation works 
to cleanse the site of contamination associated with its former use. The site proposed by the 

Page 30



 

applicants at Walkers/Dunloskin is approximately twice the size of the gas works site, and 
consequently the applicants are proposing a foodstore with a gross floorspace of 3716 sqm 
and a net floorspace of 2228 sqm.   
 
The applicants estimate that the smaller former gas works site within the edge of town 
centre would only be able to accommodate a foodstore of approximately 2500 sqm. They 
have therefore dismissed the former gas works site as incapable of accommodating the size 
of the store they propose due to size, configuration and potential flood risk. On this basis, 
and the fact that no other Edge of Centre locations are available, the applicants consider 
that it is appropriate to consider the application site as an out-of-centre location that is 
acceptable in terms of its accessibility by public transport and pedestrians.   
 
While it is acknowledged that part of the former gas works site has been identified in the 
SEPA Indicative Flood Map as forming part of the functional floodplain of the Milton Burn, 
this should not in itself rule out any potential development of the site. While the site could be 
improved by the proposed Milton Burn Flood Prevention Scheme, suitable flood defence 
mechanisms and compensatory flood storage would still have to be designed into any 
potential development of the site. 
 
The owners of the gas works site (National Grid Property Holdings) comment that their site 
represents a sequentially preferable site for retail development. Contrary to the applicant’s 
statement, they consider that neither the linear shape of the site nor the existence of a 
watercourse across it would detract from the marketability of the site to a modern foodstore 
operator nor inhibit its development. They have also stated that there is the potential for 
further land assembly around their landholding. The site, which has recently been subject to 
a level of remediation, is surplus to National Grid’s operational requirements and it is their 
intention to submit an application proposing retail development at the site. The agents 
confirm that the Victoria Road site represents a significant brownfield redevelopment 
opportunity in close proximity to Dunoon Town Centre, sequentially preferable in retail terms 
to the site of the proposed development. The owners of the site have confirmed that it would 
be available for retail development. 
 
Given this recent interest shown by the owners of the gasworks site and that an application 
for retail development may be imminent, it is considered that the former gas works site is 
available for retail development, and therefore cannot be dismissed solely on the basis of 
the size of store proposed.  It should accordingly be given more detailed consideration in 
the retail impact assessment which the applicants have submitted in support of their 
application and is assessed in more detail below.   
 
A retail impact assessment attempts to estimate the potential impact of a new retail 
development on existing retail provision (particularly within town centres). This involves 
defining the catchment area of the town, establishing the population of the area, and then 
calculating the average retail expenditure of the catchment population. This is then 
compared with an assessment of the turnover of the retail floorspace within the catchment 
area.  Where a surplus is identified this is either considered as export expenditure or 
attributed as additional expenditure for existing retailers within the catchment area.  Having 
quantified the level of turnover of existing retailers and the available expenditure within the 
catchment, and the amount exported to other centres, it is then possible to establish if there 
is sufficient expenditure to support additional floor space.  There are a considerable number 
of variables in these calculations, and a number are based on averages and estimates, and 
others are relatively subjective. 
 
The following table provides extracts from the tables in the revised retail impact assessment 
submitted by the applicants in support of their application: 
 

 

Page 31



 

 2010 2014 

Population of Catchment 15,411 15,463 

Convenience expenditure per capita  £2,079 £2,195 

Total convenience expenditure £32,033,624 £33,941,967 

Comparison expenditure per capita £2,735 £3,109 

Total comparison expenditure £42,155,285 £48,067,043 

Estimated convenience turnover in 
catchment 

£21,472,988 £22,752,202 

Estimated comparison turnover in 
catchment 

£25,000,000 £25,000,000 

Surplus convenience expenditure £10,560,636 £11,189,766 

Surplus comparison expenditure £17,155,285 £23,067,043 

 
The surplus expenditure is generally taken to represent the amount of money spent by 
residents of the catchment area in shops outwith Dunoon and Cowal, and in theory would 
be available to support additional floorspace within the catchment.  However, the extent to 
which this exported expenditure can be retained or clawed back depends on a number of 
factors, and varies between convenience and comparison goods, and proximity and size of 
competing retail centres. 
 
In addition to expenditure available from residents within the catchment area, the applicants 
have made reference to the value of tourism expenditure based on the EKOS report – 
Dunoon Locality Socio-Economic Baseline.  This concludes that tourism is worth 
£6,300,000 to the area, of which it is estimated by Visit Scotland, 10% or £630,000 would 
be retail expenditure.  The applicants have not incorporated this figure in to their 
assessment but have stated that this would potentially also be available to support retailing 
in Dunoon,  
 
In deriving the turnover of the retail floor space within the catchment, the company average 
turnovers are used for supermarkets and large national multiples, and this approach is 
normally also used to calculate the turnover of any new store.  Where an operator is known, 
this is usually the companies’ average, and where the operator is not known, an average of 
the top 5 operators is usually used.   As this is a company average, there will be stores 
which trade at under this level and stores which trade at over this level.  The level of trading 
of individual stores depends on a number of factors such as size of store and location, and 
extent of competition locally.  However as retail impact assessments are based on using 
averages for existing floor space, using these for new proposals helps to retain consistency.  
There are some instances where using different figures from the average may be justified, 
for example, where the existing retailers in the town are prepared to disclose a stores actual 
turnover, or where a proposed operator is known, and where they propose to transfer the 
actual turnover of an existing store to a new one (such as in the case of Tesco in 
Campbeltown) and they are therefore well placed to make an assessment of the turnover of 
the new store.   
 
In relation to this application, the applicants’ original retail impact assessment used an 
average turnover approach for all supermarket operators, where as in the revised retail 
impact assessments they have adopted a turnover which is 75% of company averages.  
The following table outlines the effect of these two different approaches on the floorspace of 
the store as envisaged in the original and first revised retail impact assessment: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 32



 

Floor space Average turnover 
ratio  

75% of Average 
turnover ratio 

Turnover based 
on Average ratio 

Turnover based 
on 75% of 
average ratio 

Convenience 
1,858 

11,970 8,977 22,240,260 16,679,916 

Comparison 557 8,241 6,180 4,590,237 3,442,511 

Total turnover - - 26,830,497 20,122,427 

 
It should be noted that the applicants have submitted a second revised retail impact 
assessment based on a reduction of net floorspace by just over 200 sqm but an increase in 
the proportion of space given over to comparison retailing as follows. 

 

Floor space 75% of Average turnover ratio Turnover based on 75% of 
average ratio 

Convenience  
1448 square metres 

£8,977 £11,699,283 

Comparison 
780 square metres 

£6,180 £4,338,676 

Total turnover  £16,037,958 

 
While the reduction in the proportion of floorspace given over to convenience and the use of 
75% of company average turnover has resulted a reduction of turnover by £5 million, it is 
considered that this merely reinforces the case for a smaller store located on the former gas 
works site, as a store of 2500 sqm gross which would equate to about 1600 sqm net, with a 
75% convenience and 25% comparison goods split, would more than accommodate the 
available expenditure.  As such, it is considered that the applicants have not met the 
requirements of the sequential test, in discounting the former gas works site which is 
located in a sequentially preferable edge of town centre location. 

 
 
(ii) Appropriate Scale and Location 
 

One of the main thrusts of Scottish Planning Policy is the recognition that “town centres are 
a key element to the economic and social fabric of Scotland, acting as centres of 
employment and services for local communities and a focus for civic activity, and make an 
important contribution to sustainable economic growth. Town centres should be the focus 
for a mix of uses including retail, leisure, entertainment, recreation, cultural and community 
facilities …….the range and quality of shopping, wider economic and social activity, 
integration with residential areas and the quality of the environment are key influences on 
the success of a town centre”. (para 52).  
 
The SPP also highlights the need for a hierarchical approach to town centres and that any 
significant changes in the evolving role and functions of centres should be addressed 
through development plans rather than changes being driven by individual applications. The 
SPP focuses on town centre strategies and states that the planning system has a significant 
role in supporting successful town centres through its influence on the type, siting and 
design of development. This should involve the use of vacant land and under-used land or 
premises. Actions to support improvements in town centres and to create distinctive and 
successful places are encouraged and these can range from small scale public realm works 
to assembly of larger scale development sites which aid regeneration. 
 
The Argyll and Bute Structure Plan also stresses the importance of Dunoon Town Centre as 
an important shopping focus for the Main Town settlement and wider catchment. The 
retailing sector is an important component of the economy and fulfils a critical role in 
sustaining the viability and vitality of the Town Centre. Land use policies which support the 
competitive retail market have to be balanced with the need to secure the economic 

Page 33



 

integrity of town centres and to support the use of public transport. The sequential test with 
a preference for retail developments over 1000sqm gross floorspace to be located in the 
town centres is appropriate given the limited size of the Argyll and Bute towns and their 
retail catchment populations.       
 
Despite the applicant stating that the out of centre site is ‘easily accessible’ for public 
transport and pedestrians, the following points should be noted:  

 

• The application site is located approx. 1.2km from the core of the primary retail area 
taken from the top of Moir Street on Argyll Street; approx 1.1km from Morrisons and 
approx 0.8km from the Co-op; 

• Whilst the site can be made accessible by public transport, it is not particularly 
accessible for pedestrians walking from the Town Centre or even Edge of Centre areas. 
The site of the foodstore at the rear of Dunoon Cemetery is not well linked and lacks 
pedestrian permeability to surrounding residential neighbourhoods; 

• The proposed new store is actually located approx 300 metres from the proposed access 
from Argyll Street with pedestrian access either across the large car park or main 
junction serving the store; 

• Major food shopping tends to favour car borne shoppers than the ability to shop daily 
from a more accessible town centre location. 

 
In conclusion, the proposed large foodstore would not be readily accessible by shoppers 
on-foot and is not within easy walking distance from the existing town centre area. 
Additionally, given the comments in sections (i) and (iii) such a scale and location would 
compete rather than complement the existing town centre.  
 

 
(iii) Impact on Vitality and Viability of existing Dunoon Town Centre 

 
The Applicant’s Case 

 
The applicants consider that the existing town centre of Dunoon provides goods and 
services to meet generally daily needs of local residents. The applicants also suggest that 
Dunoon town centre has a relatively healthy occupancy rate with evidence of investment 
from a small number of national retailers and strong occupancy levels of independent 
business. The applicant’s feels that Dunoon town centre appears to be well utilised 
particularly for Class 1, Class 2 and Class 3 services and that the town centre appears 
healthy with low vacancy rates (12 vacant units/7%), high pedestrian flows and retailers 
continuing to invest and trade along Argyll Street and throughout the wider town centre 
area.  
 
The applicants suggest that there are qualitative deficiencies in the available offer in 
Dunoon and that the new superstore will meet these and result in improved retail options 
within the town. The RIA notes that Dunoon Town Centre comprises a total of 165 units with 
a variety of Class 1,2,3,5,7, 10, 11 and sui generis uses (public houses, hot food takeaway 
etc).  Of the Class 1 shops (55%), 43% sell comparison goods, 7% sell food/convenience 
and 5% sell bulky goods.   
 
The Retail Impact Assessment (RIA) submitted by the applicants suggests that Dunoon 
suffers from a significant level of convenience expenditure leakage and there is a need for 
quantitative and qualitative improvement, particularly relating to main food shopping. It is 
suggested that this level of leakage points to lack of provision, choice and variety meaning 
that residents and shoppers from Dunoon and Cowal choose to make trips to other 
locations outwith the Dunoon catchment area to undertake main food shopping. As a 
consequence, the proposed development does not aim to compete with the existing town 
centre but aims to recapture the locally derived expenditure (leakage) lost to Inverclyde and 

Page 34



 

beyond. The RIA suggests that Morrisons retains around 40% of the local convenience 
expenditure whist overall the town centre accounts for 65% of the locally derived 
expenditure. The applicants suggests that the most significant factor is the level of leakage 
which is estimated at 33% of locally derived expenditure which is almost the same amount 
of money spent in Morrisons being spent outwith the Dunoon and Cowal catchment. The 
RIA anticipates that the proposed store would account for 34% of the available convenience 
expenditure with the small amount of comparison floorspace being insignificant in terms of 
comparison turnover from the catchment. 

 
Assessment 
 
In addition to assessing the expenditure capacity of the catchment area population, the 
retail impact assessment submitted by the applicants seeks to calculate the likely impact of 
the proposed new floorspace on the existing retail provision within the catchment, and more 
particularly Dunoon town centre.  In assessing the impact on existing floorspace 
consideration has been given to a number of factors.  These include; the amount of 
expenditure currently spent outwith the area; an assessment of the capacity of the new 
store to claw back that expenditure; and the extent to which the new store will compete with 
existing retail floorspace thereby diverting trade from them to be spent in the new shop.  
Also to be taken in to consideration, is the extent to which tourism expenditure and trade 
from people living outwith the primary catchment area e.g. Inveraray contribute to the 
expenditure available to support retailing in Dunoon.  These variables could have a 
significant effect on the predicted impact on the town centre.   
 
Table 1 below includes a compilation of floorspace comparison figures extracted from the 
RIA to illustrate some of the comments made in this section and scale/impact of the 
proposed foodstore.   

 
Table 1 : Comparison of floor space (extract from submitted Retail Impact 
Assessment) 
      
 Proposed 

Store 
Existing 
Morrisons 

Existing  
CO-OP 

Town Centre 
Shops 

Out of 
Centre 
Shops 

      
Gross floor 
area 

3,716sqm (2,145sqm*) (1,250sqm*) - - 

      
Net retail area 2,228sqm 1,035sqm 1,000sqm 500sqm 200sqm 
      
 
*Gross external area taken from GIS plan, not from agent figures.  

 
The applicants have submitted figures which demonstrate the effect that they believe the 
new store will have on the turnover of existing stores.  This indicates that taking all of the 
above factors into consideration, that the proposed store will have an impact of 14.7% on 
the turnover of convenience stores within the town centre.  There would also be a 34.2% 
impact on the turnover of other convenience stores in Dunoon outwith the town centre, and 
an impact of 9.2% on the turnover of convenience shops in villages.  These levels of 
impacts assume that 60% of the new stores turnover can come from the clawback of 
exported expenditure.  This would mean that the proposed new store and the existing 
convenience floorspace would be expected to retain 88% of the convenience expenditure 
which is currently spent outwith Dunoon.  The retention of this level of exported 
convenience expenditure may be ambitious, particularly because the applicants have 
predicated their argument that the proposed store requires to be in the order of 4000 sqm 
gross to allow it to be of a size and a scale which is large enough to enable it to compete 
with the superstores in Inverclyde and West Dunbartonshire where people from Cowal 

Page 35



 

currently shop.  Indeed, the applicants have provided an alternative scenario of a smaller 
store with a net convenience floorspace of 1045 sqm where they expect only 30% of the 
turnover to come from clawback of leakage, and this would equate to only 18.8% of the 
leaked expenditure, this level of clawback is low, and has been used to demonstrate the 
applicants opinion that a smaller store would have a greater impact on convenience retailing 
in the town centre than the store they have proposed.   A more robust assumption might be 
to assume a 50% clawback of leaked expenditure.   
 
The revised January 2011 retail impact assessment is based upon a smaller store where 
convenience floorspace has been reduced by 406 sqm and comparison floorspace is 
increased by 223 sqm.  This has the effect of increasing the comparison floorspace from 
23% of sales floorspace to 35% (previously a 77:23 convenience/comparison split but now 
a 65:35 split). The proposed turnover of comparison goods increases to £4,820,751 with 
£4,338,676 or an extra £896,165 from the catchment as a result.  The applicants have 
indicated that they expect the majority (75%) of the comparison turnover of the new store to 
come from the clawback of expenditure which is spent outwith Dunoon.  Twenty per cent of 
comparison turnover or £867,735 is expected to come from existing shops in the town 
centre, and this would equate to a 3.7% reduction in the turnover of comparison shops in 
the town centre.  These figures are based on the revised retail impacts’ assessment that 
currently the total amount of comparison expenditure retained in Dunoon is £23,400,000 or 
48.7% with just over half being spent in higher order centres such as Glasgow, Braehead, 
Greenock or Clydebank.  The proposed development is based on increasing the retained 
comparison expenditure to £26,842,511 or 55.8% of all comparison expenditure from the 
catchment population. Typically, smaller town centres elsewhere can be expected to retain 
50% of their catchment area’s comparison expenditure. The extent to which currently 
exported comparison expenditure can be retained is unknown. If the proposed new store 
was unable to achieve its target of 75% of its comparison turnover from the clawback of 
exported expenditure, then the impact of the town centre could be much more significant. 

 
Methodology 

 
The Co-op’s agents suggest that information derived from the National Survey of Local 
Shopping Patterns (NSLSP) is not sufficiently robust to be applied at a local level and is not 
an appropriate tool for estimating the turnover of existing retail floorspace. A well designed 
household survey (Scottish Government’s 2007 research paper) is deemed more reliable 
where key matters such as specific stores used by main food shoppers, reason for visiting 
certain stores, how they travel, whether they are undertaking linked trips and how much 
they spend in each store can all be quantified.   
In terms of NSLSP, the Co-op’s agents consider that company average turnover rates 
should be used to model the turnover of exiting and proposed retail floorspace and for a 
robust estimate of retail impact to be gauged. In the revised RIA, there is no justification for 
the application of turnover ratios that are significantly below published national average 
rates where these lower than average turnover ratios hide the true retail impact of the 
proposed supermarket.       
 
It is considered that the RIA has not adopted a broad-based approach but instead has 
attempted detailed calculations or forecasts of a sector’s growth where small variations or 
assumptions has led to a wide range of forecasts. In relation to the RIA, the applicant has 
indicated that the proposed store is aimed at a retailer from ASDA, Morrisons, Sainsburys 
and Tesco.  However the turnover of the proposed store has been estimated as an average 
of all retailers. It is considered that it may have been more appropriate to use the average 
turnover of these four retailers, in terms of predicted impact rather than the average of all 
retailers, given that the applicant has stated that it is the intention to market it to these 
retailers. 
 
The smaller store shows an anticipated impact on convenience shops within Dunoon town 
centre of 14.7% (previously 17.1%), and 3.7% (previously 3.7%) impact on comparison 

Page 36



 

goods. Contrary to the applicant’s statement that the proposal will not have a significant 
impact on Dunoon Town Centre, this overall level of impact 8% (previously (9.1%) is 
considered to be significant. Furthermore, using revised population and expenditure figures 
would increase this impact, as would attributing the average turnovers of the prospective 
operators to the store, further still. 
 
In terms of population of the catchment area and calculation of available expenditure, the 
applicant’s population projections shows a population of 15387 in 2008 increasing slightly to 
15455 in 2012. Whilst the department may be prepared to accept this projected increase in 
population, other recent projections indicate a declining population over the same period. 
Accordingly, and in line with the advice in paragraph 65 of SPP, it is considered that future 
growth in population based on housing allocations in the Argyll and Bute Local Plan should 
not be factored in.  Take-up of these housing allocations has slowed considerably over the 
last two or three years, and it is therefore highly likely that not all of the units planned for will 
be delivered within the plan period.  Furthermore, household sizes in Argyll and Bute 
continue to fall, and as such even with a high rate of housing completions as factored in to 
the Local Plan, population levels are likely to remain stable, rather than increase at the rate 
which the applicant suggests. 
 
In terms of the applicant’s Town Centre Health Check Appraisal, the overall score has now 
been reduced to 3.13 (previously 3.28) and now regarded as fair instead of good. Many 
factors have been assessed as “very good” or “good” but there is no comparable town to 
assess this comparison against i.e. how does Dunoon compare to Oban or Helensburgh?  It 
is considered that the applicant’s Town Centre Health Check is subjective in nature and 
does not reflect the more fragile nature of Dunoon’s High Street and other retailing areas 
where vacant units, charity shops and poor shop frontage design should perhaps result in a 
lower score. It should also be recognised that a significant amount of works have been 
undertaken on town centre renewal projects to promote an otherwise fragile town centre. 
The town centre will continue to be the focus for such projects in an attempt to revitalise the 
town centre area. The presence of an out of town superstore could undermine any ongoing 
and future proposals to enliven Dunoon Town Centre. Furthermore, the proposed 
population projections coupled with ambitious take-up of housing allocations and declining 
household sizes cannot support the forecasted expenditure and growth rates suggested by 
the applicant.  

 
Conclusions 
 
The RIA confirms that the main source of trade diversion will be predominantly from 
Morrisons but also from the Co-op store. Whilst the planning system seeks to encourage 
competition in the market place, this should not be done at the cost of weakening the 
trading positions of existing convenience and comparison retail outlets within Dunoon Town 
Centre and Edge of Centre locations. The size of the proposed foodstore, that would be 
approximately twice the floorspace of Morrisons, has been designed by the applicants 
specifically to ‘compete with the larger stores that shoppers use elsewhere outwith the 
catchment’. It is considered that such a scale of foodstore would compete directly with 
existing supermarkets and have a significant adverse impact on not only Dunoon Town 
Centre but isolated retail outlets.   
 
Reducing the amount of net floorspace by just under 1000sqm has resulted in an increase 
in the amount of comparison floorspace (previously a 77:23 convenience/comparison split 
but now a 65:35 split). Despite the applicants suggestion that almost 50% of comparison 
expenditure is spent outwith the Dunoon catchment, the potential impact on existing 
comparison retailers has not been sufficiently demonstrated and the figures provided 
suggest that this would be a significant and unacceptable trade diversion.     
 
It is interesting to note that, in the Pre-Application Consultation process, the applicant’ claim 
that a ‘significant’ number (25%) of residents choose to shop outwith Dunoon and Cowal. 

Page 37



 

Accordingly, this would mean that the majority of the town and catchment (75%) are happy 
to shop locally. In any event, the number of responses made at the Pre-application 
Consultation exhibition (409 responses) and number of representations received as part of 
this application (1100) are not wholly representative of a town with a population of 
approximately 10,000 residents within the Dunoon area. The statements in the petition 
letters are very basic and do not provide an accurate picture of retailing trends in the 
Dunoon and Cowal areas. Despite the statistics, tables and statements submitted, the 
shopping trends of Cowal residents are more complex than and not as easy to predict as 
the submitted RIA would suggest.  It would therefore be wrong to assume that the majority 
of Cowal residents make shopping trips outwith the peninsula for convenience purposes 
only. Proximity to Inverclyde, Paisley and Glasgow coupled with a deficiency in local 
employment opportunities, indoor leisure activities and peninsular lifestyles mean that 
residents will continue to make journeys out of the Cowal area for business, leisure, cultural, 
social and retail activities. Contrary to the applicant’s statements, the provision of a third 
large foodstore in Dunoon will not arrest the trend of residents wishing to shop locally during 
the week but planning trips outwith the peninsula at weekends that may also include 
convenience shopping.  
 
Weakening a high street that already suffers from a number of vacant premises could also 
have the potential to undermine the tourism strategy that depends on visitors and shoppers 
to the town centre. The creation of a larger third foodstore will not increase visitor numbers 
but may well result in a loss of local and niche market retail outlets that combine to give 
Dunoon town centre its traditional and particular charm.    
 
Given all of the above, it is considered that the proposed foodstore and associated 
development is contrary to the adopted Argyll and Bute Local Plan policy LP RET 1 part A, 
as it is outwith the defined town centre; to part B in that the developer has not satisfactorily 
demonstrated that the former gasworks site within the defined edge of town centre is not 
suitable; and part D that the size of the proposed store is too large for the available 
expenditure within the catchment area without having a detrimental impact on the vitality 
and viability of retailing in the existing town centre. Additionally, it should also be noted that 
as the western portion of the site is identified as a Potential Development Area for housing 
in the adopted Local Plan, the proposal would not accord with LP RET 1 part E.  
 
In summary, the retail impact assessment does not justify a third large foodstore within 
Dunoon to directly compete with Morrisons and the Co-op that have Main Town Centre and 
Edge of Centre locations respectively, in addition to the impact on other 
convenience/comparison outlets in the Town Centre and surrounding areas. The 
assumption that significant leakage can be arrested by proposing a superstore that is more 
than twice the size of Morrisons does not square with the discrepancies in terms of trips 
made outwith the peninsula to undertake main food shopping.  
 
On the basis of the above and in terms of the Retail Sequential Test and impact on 
Dunoon Town Centre and other retail outlets, the proposal is considered to be 
contrary to Policy LP RET 1 of the Argyll and Bute Local Plan (August 2009). 

 
D. Natural Environment and Biodiversity 

 
The applicant’s submitted Ecology Report identified otter activity with regular sprainting 
along the watercourses within the site, several bat species recorded locally, twenty three 
species of birds breeding and foraging within the riparian and woodland habitats and water 
vole recorded locally although field surveys identified no suitable habitat and no presence 
within the site or adjacent areas. Mitigation measures are proposed to avoid or minimise 
impacts on otter, breeding birds and the ecological receptors identified.  
 

Page 38



 

Both SNH and the Local Biodiversity Officer find the proposals acceptable in principle 
provided the mitigation measures can be fully implemented.  
 
On the basis of general acceptance and the imposition of necessary safeguarding 
planning conditions,  the proposal could be considered to be consistent with Policy 
STRAT DC7 of the Argyll and Bute Structure Plan 2002, and policies LP ENV 2 and 
ENV 6 of the Argyll and Bute Local Plan (August 2009). 

 
E.  Impact on Woodland / Landscape Character 

 
There is currently a belt of deciduous trees along the western bank of the Milton Burn that 
help screen the field to the west, but these are to be removed. An area of mixed deciduous 
trees to the rear (west) of the proposed foodstore comprises a key landscape feature in the 
current proposals to develop the entire PDA 2/5 for residential purposes (under application 
ref. 07/01903/DET). This central woodland feature is anticipated to provide the centrepiece 
for this development providing commensurate active/ passive open space and recreational 
areas with a network of paths improving the site for pedestrians. The presence of a large 
commercial building at the edge of this woodland would not only compromise the habitat of 
the central woodland but would provide it with a hard urban edge that might not be capable 
of producing the quality central landscaped/woodland feature expected to be delivered as 
part of the housing development for the entire site.  
 
While the proposed development, due to its scale and location, would urbanise the site to 
the detriment of existing habitats along the Milton Burn and central woodland feature and 
also compromise the layout of an acceptable housing layout for the remainder of PDA 2/5, 
these issues could be mitigated during consideration of any detailed submission for the 
supermarket or for the remainder of the housing within the PDA.  
 
Accordingly, the proposed development is not considered to be contrary to Policies 
LP ENV 1, ENV 7 and ENV 19 of the Argyll and Bute Local Plan (August 2009). 

 
F. Affordable Housing and Revised Housing Layout on PDA 2/5 

 
The current application for a residential development (ref. 07/01903/DET) by Kier Homes 
requires a 25% affordability provision which in terms of the proposed 74 units represents 19 
affordable units. The current proposal if built to the masterplan layout proposed by the 
applicant would result in the loss of 32 units to the front (east) of the site and deliver only 11 
affordable homes (i.e. a net loss of 9 units). The 25% affordability applies to the entire PDA 
2/5 and the loss of 9 affordable homes from the currently proposed 74 unit scheme (being 
considered under current application ref. 07/01903/DET) would require to be compensated 
for: that could include off-site provision or commuted payments. The applicant has not 
addressed the shortfall of affordable units. 
  
The overall loss of affordable housing on the site and lack of a chosen mechanism to 
address the reduction of affordable units is considered to be contrary to the 
provisions of Policy LP HOU 2 of the Argyll and Bute Local Plan (August 2009).   

 
G. Archaeological Matters 

 
West of Scotland Archaeology Service (WoSAS) comments that the site lies within an area 
of some archaeological sensitivity based on the presence of recorded sites and finds from 
various periods in the surrounding landscape. It is recommended that an initial assessment 
followed by archaeological field evaluation be carried out. Alternatively, in terms of PAN42, 
a suspensive condition is suggested.  
 

Page 39



 

Whist no information has been submitted at this stage, the applicant confirms a preference 
to accept a suspensive condition to address any potential archaeological concerns.  
 
It is considered that the imposition of such a condition would allow the 
applicant/developer the ability to deal with such matters once planning permission 
has been secured and accordingly consistent with the provisions of Policy ENV 17 of 
the Argyll and Bute Local Plan (August 2009).   

 
H. Road Network, Parking and Associated Transport Matters 

 
A Transport Assessment has been prepared and discussed with Roads. The Transport 
Assessment confirms that the local road network will continue to operate within capacity 
with the addition of traffic associated with the proposed development.  
 
Policy LP TRAN 2 of the Argyll and Bute Local Plan requires development of this scale to 
take account of public transport accessibility as well as providing suitable routes for 
pedestrians and cyclists.  The applicant has addressed this issue and the following would 
be provided: 

Measures to improve accessibility: 

• A 2 metre wide footway along the southern side of the supermarket access road; 

• A replacement footway along Argyll Street frontage; 

• Provision of 4 cycle parking stands providing spaces for up to 8 cycles; 

• Retention and relocation of two bus stops on Argyll Street (locations to be 
agreed); 

 
Measures that may form part of the eventual Travel Plan: 

• Implementation of car share strategies; 

• Provision of Travel Information Centre within the development relating to 
promotion of travel modes other than by private car; 

• Negotiations with local suppliers to obtain discounts for outdoor clothing, cycle 
equipment and travel passes; 

• Provision of secure cycle parking, shower and changing facilities; 

• Provision of cycle and motorcycle training courses; 

• Negotiations with bus operators to improve services and facilities; and  

• A Travel Plan incentive pack and personal attack alarm to encourage employees 
to walk, cycle or use public transport on a regular basis.   

 
Roads have no objections in principle to the proposed scheme subject to conditions outlined 
below. It is also noted that the access road will require to be adopted; this will require the 
road including the footways to be constructed as per the Council’s Development Guidelines 
and would be subject to a Road Construction Consent; Road Bond and Road Opening 
Permit. Roads also note that a puffin crossing (precise location to be agreed) should be 
installed on Argyll Street, this will require a Section 75 Agreement and consultation with 
Argyll and Bute Council Roads Department is required as per precise location.  A “hurry 
call” should be installed in to the pedestrian crossing for the nearby fire station.   

 

• The required sightlines of 2.4 x 42 metres are attainable in both directions on to Argyll 
Street; 

• The required sightlines of 2.4 x 42 metres are attainable in both directions from car park, 
filling station and service access on to access road.  All walls, hedges fences within the 
sightlines to be maintained at a height not greater than 1 metre above road level.  Land 
within visibility splays will be included in the adoption boundary.  Nothing else should be 
placed within these visibility splays, i.e. signs etc.; 

Page 40



 

• Dropped kerbs will be required at all junctions including the main access to allow safe 
passage of pedestrian traffic; 

• The gradient of the access road not to exceed 5% for the first 5m and 8% for the 
remainder.  Access to superstore parking area not to exceed a gradient of 5% for the 1st 
5 metres and 8% for the remainder, and a system of surface water drainage will be 
required to prevent water running on to the public road (new site access road).  Petrol 
station access as above.  Service access as per car park access – if gates are to be 
used they must not open out on to the public road, must be set back far enough for an 
articulated lorry to sit while not obstructing the public road; 

• Parking requirements – 1.0 spaces per 25m² – for 3995m² requires minimum of 160 
parking spaces, maximum number of 285 – with a 4% designated for disabled users for 
this development; 

• Parking bays to be a minimum of 2.5 x 5 metres for aisle width of 6 metres; 

• A bus stop on the access road is required outside the supermarket; this should be 
designed as a bus “pull in” to avoid obstructing sightlines.  An area suitable for turning a 
bus should be provided on the new access road.  Developer to contact councils public 
transport department regarding additional mileage payments for 1st year, should routes 
require to be changed to accommodate, a legal agreement will be required to achieve 
this.  Bus stops/pull ins should include high kerbs, design to be agreed with Council 
roads dept; 

• The developer should appoint a travel plan co-ordinator.  Once the store has been open 
for a period of 6-7 months an updated model should be shown to the council, highlighting 
any necessary changes/issues. 

• No lights for supermarket signage should shine directly towards pedestrians or motorists. 

• The access to be constructed prior to other works starting on site. 
 

On the basis of general acceptance and the imposition of necessary planning 
conditions and potential Section 75 Agreement,  the proposal is considered to be 
consistent with Policies LP TRAN 1, TRAN 2, TRAN 3, TRAN 4 and TRAN 6 of the 
Argyll and Bute Local Plan (August 2009).  

 
I. Flooding and Surface Water Drainage 

 
With regard to Policy LP SERV 8 which deals with flooding and land erosion, SEPA advise 
that the site lies partially within the fluvial elements of the indicative limits of flooding shown 
on the Indicative River and Coastal Flood Map (Scotland) for floods with a 1 in 200 year 
return period (i.e. a flood with a 0.5% chance of occurring in any single year). 
 
A Site Flooding/Sustainable Drainage Overview Study in conjunction with a Flood Risk 
Assessment in accordance with Policies LP SERV 2 and LP SERV 3 considered flood risk 
from the Milton Burn, from three un-named tributary watercourses and from surface water 
run-off generated from outwith the site. The areas proposed for the superstore and petrol 
filling station are outwith the predicted functional floodplain. However, a number of minor 
drainage issues can be addressed satisfactorily during the detailed design stage. The 
eventual bridge design can also be modelled to avoid flood risk to others.   
 
Following amendments and further clarification, this is considered acceptable to SEPA and 
the Council’s Flood Alleviation Manager subject to conditions regarding successful 
implementation of ‘Summary and Conclusions’ in the Flood Risk Assessment, allowances 
are made for freeboard and volumes of surface water discharge to Milton Burn are agreed 
with the Flooding Authority. 
 
In terms of Policies LP SERV 2, SERV 3 and SERV 8 of the Argyll and Bute Local Plan 
(August 2009), the indicative flood risk/surface water drainage strategy is considered 
to be acceptable at this stage and could be addressed by planning conditions. 

 

Page 41



 

 
 
 
 
 
J. Waste Management 

 
Waste collection from the site is to be made from a dedicated screened bin area located 
within the service yard, of a size appropriate to the foodstore. The service yard has an 
indicative layout that would be capable to facilitate the pick-up of waste material by refuse 
collection vehicles, which will have access to the yard at scheduled times.  
 
In terms of Policy LP SERV 5 of the Argyll and Bute Local Plan (August 2009), the 
indicative strategy is considered to be acceptable at this stage and could be 
addressed by planning condition. 

 
K. Public Water Supply 

 

Scottish Water has confirmed that they would have no objections in principle and Loch Eck 
Water Treatment Works currently has capacity but comment that the scale of the 
development will require the applicant to submit a Development Impact Assessment Form. 
The applicant is also advised of impact on existing apparatus and service.  
 
In terms of Policy LP SERV 4 of the Argyll and Bute Local Plan (August 2009), the 
indicative public water supply strategy is considered to be acceptable at this stage 
and could be addressed by planning condition. 

 

L. Foul Water Arrangements 
 

Scottish Water has confirmed that they would have no objections in principle but Alexandra 
Parade Outfall currently has limited capacity to serve the new demand. Due to the scale of 
the development, the applicant will require the applicant to submit a Development Impact 
Assessment Form. The applicant is also advised of impact on existing apparatus and 
service.  
 
In terms of Policy LP SERV 1 of the Argyll and Bute Local Plan (August 2009), the in 
principle agreement to connect to the public sewer system is considered to be 
acceptable at this stage and could be addressed by planning condition. 

 
M. Contamination 
 

Due to the existing industrial and commercial uses on the site, Public Protection 
recommend conditions in respect of contaminated land.   
 
In terms of Policy LP SERV 7 of the Argyll and Bute Local Plan (August 2009), it is 
considered that suspensive planning conditions could address the contaminated 
land issues raised.  

 
N. Noise, Dust, Lighting and Operational Hours 
 

In terms of potential impact on surrounding land uses, Public Protection recommend 
conditions in respect of minimising noise from the development, minimising the effect of 
noise and dust from construction, details of control of lighting and operational hours to 
reduce night-time noise in the area.   
 

Page 42



 

In terms of Policy LP BAD 1 of the Argyll and Bute Local Plan (August 2009), it is 
considered that suspensive planning conditions could address the environmental 
concerns raised.  

 
  

Page 43



Page 44

This page is intentionally left blank



°

M
ilto
n
B
u
rn

8

Arthur

30

Struan Lodge Residential Home

1
5

19

B
E
N
C
O
R
R
U
M

Dunoon

General Hospital

Tanks

33
29

3
2

6
9 7
1

Cemetery

Terrace

Green

Bowling

3
6
1

Station

5

2
4

24.0m

S
h
e
lt
e
r

Fire

5

Sub Sta

B
R
A
E

2

Pavilion

74

11
3

4

El

Filling Sta

A
8
8
5

6

12
9

40.5m

FS

18.5m

3
5
4

3
0

ARD
ENS

LATE
ROA

D

1
7

7
5

B
O
G
L
E
H
A
G
R
E
E
N

13 1

18.0m

1
4

2 El

27

4

1

Builder's Yard

Pavilion

Garden Centre

3
2

1
7

31

7
3

Ward Bdy

5

Sub Sta

Pa
th

1

4

3
4
2

LB

TCB

Council Yard

15 3

1
8

4

1

MP

23

DUNOON

ELIZABETH AVENUE
2 4 6

127

56

54

S
A
N
D
E
R
S
O
N
D
R
IV
E

Playgro

2

217000

217000

6
7
7
6
0
0

6
7
7
6
0
0

Date: 18.02.11

Location Plan relative to
Application Ref: 10/00222/PP

Scale:

Application Site

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's
Stationery Office (C) Crown Copyright 2009. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and

may lead to prosecution or Civil Proceedings. OS License No.100023368, 2009.

1:2,500

1:250,000

Page 45



Page 46

This page is intentionally left blank



Ref:  ABH1/2009 

 

 

ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL  
 

PROCEDURE NOTE FOR USE AT 
 
 

(1) Statutory Pre Determination Hearing      

(2) Pan 41 Hearing         

(3) Council Interest Application       

(4) Discretionary Hearing        X 

 
HELD BY THE PLANNING, PROTECTIVE SERVICES & LICENSING COMMITTEE 

 
 
1. The Director of Customer Services will notify the applicant, all representees 

and objectors of the Council’s decision to hold a Hearing and to indicate the 
date on which the hearing will take place.  The hearing will proceed on that 
day, unless the Council otherwise decides, whether or not some or all of the 
parties are represented or not. Statutory consultees (including Community 
Councils) will be invited to attend the meeting to provide an oral presentation 
on their written submissions to the Committee, if they so wish. 

 
2. The Director of Customer Services  will give a minimum of 7 days notice of the 

date, time and venue for the proposed Hearing to all parties. 
 
3        The hearing will proceed in the following order and as follows.  
 
4 The Chair will introduce the Members of the Panel, ascertain the parties 

present who wish to speak and outline the procedure which will be followed. 
 
5. The Director of Development and Infrastructure’s representative will present 

their report and recommendations to the Committee on how the matter should 
be disposed of. 

 
6. The applicant will be given an opportunity to present their case for approval of 

the proposal and may include in their submission any relevant points made by 
representees supporting the application or in relation to points contained in the 
written representations of objectors. 

 
7. The consultees, supporters and objectors in that order (see notes 1 and 2), 

will be given the opportunity to state their case to the Council.   
 
8. All parties to the proceedings will be given a period of time to state their case 

(see note 3).  In exceptional circumstances and on good case shown the 
Panel may extend the time for a presentation by any of the parties at their sole 
discretion. 

 

Page 47



Ref:  ABH1/2009 

  
 
9. Members of the Panel only will have  the opportunity to put questions to the 

Director of Development and Infrastructure’s representative, the applicant, the 
consultees, the supporters and the objectors in that order. 

 
10. At the conclusion of the question session the Director of Development and 

Infrastructure’s representative, the applicant, any consultees present, the 
supporters and the objectors (in that order) will each be given an opportunity 
to comment on any particular information given by any other party after they 
had made their original submission and sum up their case. 

 
11.   The Chair will ascertain from the parties present that they have had a 

reasonable opportunity to state their case.  
  
12.    The Panel will then debate the merits of the application and will  reach a 

decision on it.  No new information can be introduced at this stage. 
 
13.      The Chair or the Committee Services Officer on his/her behalf will announce 

the decision. 
 
14. A summary of the proceedings will be recorded by the Committee Services 

Officer. 
 
15. If at any stage it appears to the Chair that any of the parties is speaking for an 

excessive length of time he will be entitled to invite them to conclude their 
presentation forthwith. 

 
 NOTE 
 

(1) Objectors who intend to be present and speak at a hearing are 
encouraged to appoint one or a small number of spokespersons to 
present their views to concentrate on the matters of main concern to 
them and to avoid repetition.  To assist this process the Council will 
provide a full list of the names and addresses of all objectors. 

 
(2) Supporters who intend to be present and speak at a hearing are 

encouraged to appoint one or a small number of spokespersons to 
present their views to concentrate on the matters of main concern to 
them and to avoid repetition.  To assist this process the Council will 
provide a full list of the names and addresses of all supporters. 

 
(3)    Councillors (other than those on the Panel) who have made written 

representations and who wish to speak at the hearing will do so under 
category (1) or (2) above according to their representations but will be 
heard by the Panel individually. 

 
(4) Recognising the level of representation the following time periods have 

been allocated to the parties involved in the Hearing. 
 

Page 48



Ref:  ABH1/2009 

The Director of Development Services’ representative – not more than 
45 minutes 
The Applicant - not more than 45 minutes. 

 The Consultees - not more than 45 minutes.  
The Supporters - not more than 45 minutes. 

 The Objectors - not more than 45 minutes. 
  
(4) The purpose of the meeting is to ensure that all relevant information is 

before the Panel and this is best achieved when people with similar 
views co-operate in making their submissions. 

 
(5) Everyone properly qualified as a representee recorded on the 

application report who wishes to be given an opportunity to speak will 
be given such opportunity.  

  
(6) The Council has developed guidance for Councillors on the need to 

compose a competent motion if they consider that they do not support 
the recommendation from the Director of Development and 
Infrastructure which is attached hereto. 

 
 
 
 
I:data/typing/planning/procedure note

Page 49



Ref:  ABH1/2009 

COMPETENT MOTIONS 
 

• Why is there a need for a competent motion? 
 

o Need to avoid challenge by “third party” to local authority decision which 
may result in award of expenses and/or decision being overturned. 

 
o Challenges may arise from: judicial review, planning appeal, ombudsman 

(maladministration) referral.   All appeal/review processes have rights to 
award expenses against unreasonable/unlawful behaviour. 

 

• Member/Officer protocol for agreeing competent motion: 
 

o The process that should be followed should Members be minded to go 
against an officer’s recommendation is set out below. 

 

• The key elements involved in formulating a competent motion: 
 

o It is preferable to have discussed the component parts of a competent 
motion with the relevant Member in advance of the Committee (role of 
professional officers).  This does not mean that a Member has prejudged 
the matter but rather will reflect discussions on whether opinions contrary to 
that of professional officers have a sound basis as material planning 
considerations. 

 
o A motion should relate to material considerations only. 

 
o A motion must address the issue as to whether proposals are considered 

consistent with Adopted Policy of justified as a departure to the 
Development Plan.  Departure must be determined as being major or minor. 

 
o If a motion for approval is on the basis of being consistent with policy 

reasoned justification for considering why it is consistent with policy contrary 
to the Head of Planning’s recommendation must be clearly stated and 
minuted. 

 
o If a motion for approval is on the basis of a departure reasoned justification 

for that departure must be clearly stated and minuted.  Consideration should 
be given to holding a PAN 41 Hearing (determined by policy grounds for 
objection, how up to date development plan policies are, volume and 
strength of representation/contention) 

 
o A motion should also address planning conditions and the need for a 

Section 75 Agreement. 
 

o Advice from the Scottish Government on what are material planning 
considerations is attached herewith.  However, interested parties should 
always seek their own advice on matters relating to legal or planning 
considerations as the Council cannot be held liable for any error or omission 
in the said guidance. 

Page 50



Ref:  ABH1/2009 

DEFINING A MATERIAL CONSIDERATION 
 
 
1. Legislation requires decisions on planning applications to be made in accordance 

with the development plan (and, in the case of national developments, any 
statement in the National Planning Framework made under section 3A(5) of the 
1997 Act) unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  The House of Lord’s 
judgement on City of Edinburgh Council v the Secretary of State for Scotland 
(1998) provided the following interpretation.  If a proposal accords with the 
development plan and there are no material considerations indicating that it should 
be refused, permission should be granted.  If the proposal does not accord with 
the development plan, it should be refused unless there are material 
considerations indicating that it should be granted. 

 
2. The House of Lord’s judgement also set out the following approach to deciding an 

application: 
 

- Identify any provisions of the development plan which are relevant to the 
decision, 

- Interpret them carefully, looking at the aims and objectives of the plan as well as 
detailed wording of policies, 

- Consider whether or not the proposal accords with the development plan. 
- Identify and consider relevant material considerations for and against the 

proposal, and 
- Assess whether these considerations warrant a departure from the 

development plan. 
 

3. There are two main tests in deciding whether a consideration is material and 
relevant: 

 
- It should serve or be related to the purpose of planning.  It should therefore 

relate to the development and use of land, and 
- It should fairly and reasonably relate to the particular application. 

 
4. It is for the decision maker to decide if a consideration is material and to assess 

both the weight to be attached to each material consideration and whether 
individually or together they are sufficient to outweigh the development plan.  
Where development plan policies are not directly relevant to the development 
proposal, material considerations will be of particular importance. 

 
5. The range of considerations which might be considered material in planning terms 

is very wide and can only be determined in the context of each case.  Examples of 
possible material considerations include: 

 
- Scottish Government policy, and UK Government policy on reserved matters 
- The National Planning Framework 
- Scottish planning policy, advice and circulars 
- European policy 
- A proposed strategic development plan, a proposed local development plan, or 

proposed supplementary guidance 

Page 51



Ref:  ABH1/2009 

- Guidance adopted by a Strategic Development Plan Authority or a planning 
authority that is not supplementary guidance adopted under section 22(1) of the 
1997 Act 

- A National Park Plan 
- The National Waste Management Plan 
- Community plans 
- The Environmental impact of the proposal 
- The design of the proposed development and its relationship to its surroundings 
- Access, provision of infrastructure and planning history of the site 
- Views of statutory and other consultees 
- Legitimate public concern or support expressed on relevant planning matters 

 
6. The planning system operates in the long term public interest.  It does not exist to 

protect the interests of one person or business against the activities of another.  In 
distinguishing between public and private interest, the basic question is whether 
the proposal would unacceptably affect the amenity and existing use of land and 
buildings which ought to be protected in the public interest, not whether owners or 
occupiers of neighbouring or other existing properties would experience financial 
or other loss from a particular development. 

Page 52


	Agenda
	3 CWP PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTMENT: APPLICATION FOR ERECTION OF A CLASS 1 FOODSTORE WITH ASSOCIATED DEVELOPMENT TO INCLUDE CAR PARKING, ACCESS ROAD, ROAD BRIDGE, FILLING STATION AND ENGINEERING WORKS: 361 ARGYLL STREET, DUNOON (REF: 10/00222/PPP)
	00222 Supplementary Report of Handling Foodstore Walker site Dunoon (3), 16/03/2011 Planning, Protective Services and Licensing Committee
	00222 Report of Handling Foodstore Walker site Dunoon (V2), 16/03/2011 Planning, Protective Services and Licensing Committee
	Location Plan 00222, 16/03/2011 Planning, Protective Services and Licensing Committee

	PROCEDURE NOTE

